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Dandrit Biotech USA Inc.
Explanatory Note
Dandrit Biotech USA Inc. (the “Company,” “we,” “us,” or “our”) is filing this Amendment No. 1 on Form 10K/A (this
“Amendment”) to its annual report on Form 10K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017, which was originally filed September 29,
2017 (the “Original Filing”), to amend and restate Item 1of Part I, “Business”; Item 5 of Part II “Market for Registrant’s Common
Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities”; Item 7 of Part II, “ Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”; Item 8 of Part II, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” with
respect to (1) the engagement of a consultant on April 21, 2017 and the compensation valuation of the 200,000 common shares of
the Company’s common stock (2) disclosure of significant account policies related to Nonemployee ShareBased Payments and (3)
to update certain subsequent events; and Item 13 of Part II “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director
Independence”.
As required by Rule 12b15 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), new certifications of
our principal executive officer and principal financial officer are also being filed as exhibits to this Amendment. This Amendment
should be read in conjunction with the Original Filing, which continues to speak as of the date of the Original Filing. The
Amendment does include changes to the consolidated financial statements and, modifies or updates disclosures in the Original
Filing. Accordingly, this Amendment does not reflect events occurring after the filing of the Original Filing.
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Cautionary Language Regarding ForwardLooking Statements and Industry Data
This Annual Report on Form 10K contains “forwardlooking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forwardlooking statements can be identified by the fact that they do not relate strictly to historical
or current facts. Forwardlooking statements are based upon our current assumptions, expectations and beliefs concerning future
developments and their potential effect on our business. In some cases, you can identify forwardlooking statements by the
following words: “may,” “could,” “would,” “should,” “expect,” “intend,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “approximately,”
“estimate,” “predict,” “project,” “potential” or the negative of these terms or other comparable terminology, although the absence
of these words does not necessarily mean that a statement is not forwardlooking.
A forwardlooking statement is neither a prediction nor a guarantee of future events or circumstances, and those future
events or circumstances may not occur. You should not place undue reliance on forwardlooking statements, which speak only as of
the date of this Annual Report. These forwardlooking statements are all based on currently available operating, financial and
competitive information and are subject to various risks and uncertainties. Our actual future results and trends may differ materially
depending on a variety of factors, including, but not limited to, the risks and uncertainties discussed under "Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations". Given these risks and uncertainties, you should not
rely on forwardlooking statements as a prediction of actual results. Any or all of the forwardlooking statements contained in this
Annual Report and any other public statement made by us, including by our management, may turn out to be incorrect. We are
including this cautionary note to make applicable and take advantage of the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995 for forwardlooking statements. We expressly disclaim any obligation to update or revise any
forwardlooking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
All forwardlooking statements speak only as of the date of this Annual Report. We undertake no obligation to update any
forwardlooking statements or other information contained herein. Stockholders and potential investors should not place undue
reliance on these forwardlooking statements. Although we believe that our plans, intentions and expectations reflected in or
suggested by the forwardlooking statements in this report are reasonable, we cannot assure stockholders and potential investors
that these plans, intentions or expectations will be achieved. These cautionary statements qualify all forwardlooking statements
attributable to us or persons acting on our behalf.
Information regarding market and industry statistics contained in this report is included based on information available to
us that we believe is accurate. It is generally based on academic and other publications that are not produced for purposes of
securities offerings or economic analysis. Forecasts and other forwardlooking information obtained from these sources are subject
to the same qualifications and the additional uncertainties accompanying any estimates of future market size, revenue and market
acceptance of products and services. Except as required by U.S. federal securities laws, we have no obligation to update forward
looking information to reflect actual results or changes in assumptions or other factors that could affect those statements.
ii

PART I
Unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, all references in this prospectus to “we,” “us,” “our” or the
“Company” are to DanDrit Biotech USA, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“DanDrit USA”, “Registrant” or “Parent”), together
with its wholly owned subsidiary DanDrit Biotech A/S, a Danish limited company, organized under the Danish Act on Limited
Companies of the Kingdom of Denmark (“DanDrit Denmark” or the “Subsidiary”).
Item 1. Business
Our Business
The Company has developed and patented vaccines used in initial clinical trials in Europe and Asia including
MelCancerVac™ (MCV) for the treatment of cancer (one phase I/II trial in Denmark and two phase II trials in Denmark and
Singapore). The Company has advanced candidate therapies, targeted initially at nonsmallcelllungcancer (NSCLC) and
colorectal cancer (sometimes referred to herein as CRC). MCV was developed by the Company in 2001. In September 2008, the
Singapore government granted to DanDrit Denmark a namedpatient compassionate use program of MCV. MCV was evaluated in
three singlearm Phase II clinical trials in cancer where MCV demonstrated potential efficacy. Subsequent to this, the Company
was a participant to designing a randomized trial with stage IV colorectal cancer patients.
Our only product is MCV and currently there is no ability to market MCV other than the Singapore compassionate use
program and the MyTomorrows compassionate use program.
Our current strategy is focused on conducting clinical trials in advanced colorectal cancer. Our clinical development
strategy is to continue our research and development of MCV including but not limited to a randomized multicenter Phase III
clinical trial to determine the ability of MCV to prevent recidivism in stage IV colorectal patients with no evidence of disease
(NED) after resection of metastasis and chemotherapy.
Recent Developments
On April 21, 2017, the Company engaged a consultant to improve the efficacy of the Company’s vaccine protocol MCV.
The compensation to the consultant was $75,000 plus 200,000 common shares of the Company’s stock valued at $240,000.
On April 21, 2017, the Company engaged a consultant to improve the efficacy of the Company’s vaccine protocol MCV.
The compensation to the consultant was $5,000 per month plus 100,000 warrants to purchase common shares at $1.30 per share
expiring April 21, 2022 valued at $115,754.
In July 2017, DanDrit USA executed a nonbinding letter of intent for the acquisition of a biotechnology company with
certain intellectual property rights in the field of HIV. The Company is currently undergoing due diligence on the target entity.
Our Intellectual Property
The Company filed its first Patent Cooperation Treaty (PCT) patent application on November 29, 2002 with priority
claimed from 2001 with the Danish application, shortly after our formation.
The Company may continue to patent its innovations, such as novel dendritic cell production systems or dendritic cell
quality control. To support potential income streams the Company may patent noncore applications of its dendritic cell
technologies so as to secure future revenue streams from outlicensing activity.
Patents
●

Pharmaceutical composition for inducing an immune response in a human or animal (2001 Denmark (DK), 2002
PCT)
This patent was first filed in November 2002. The patent covers and describes the usage of an allogenic melanoma
cell lysate (MCL)pulsed autologous DC vaccine expressing at least one of six MAGEA antigens overexpressed by
the cell line being the source of the lysate. The patent covers the antigen composition used in the generation of
MelCancerVac and the claims for producing MelCancerVac. In this patent the antigens are specified to mainly belong
to the cancer testis family. The family of antigens is expressed in a wide variety of cancer forms. In the International
Preliminary Report on Patentability (IPRP) all claims were determined to be novel and inventive. The patent expiry
date is November 29, 2022. This patent has been granted in: Europe, the USA, China, Australia, Singapore, Japan,
Russia, Hong Kong. This patent is pending in: Israel and Norway. This patent is owned by the Company and was not
licensed from third parties. The patent protection means that the cancer specific antigenrich lysate obtained from our

cell line cannot be commercially made, used, distributed or sold without the Company’s consent. These patent rights
can be usually enforced in a court, which, in most systems, holds the authority to stop patent infringement.
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●

Protocol for generating dendritic cells (2005 DK, 2008 PCT)
This patent covers the generation of dendritic cells based on a blood sample of 200 ml. The patent differs from other
DC generating patents by the utilization of reduced temperature and a single blood sample. DC’s exposed to tumor
antigens followed by treatment with T(h)1polarizing differentiation signals have paved the way for the development
of DCbased cancer vaccines. Critical parameters for generation of optimal functional clinical grade DC’s are a very
competitive area. The Company has developed a method that covers the generation of immature dendritic cells under
reduced temperature settings which by further activation has been shown to give a high yield of homogeneous and
fully matured DC’s. This patent was filed on December 7, 2006. In the International Preliminary Report on
Patentability (IPRP) a large majority of claims were found to be novel and inventive. The patent expiry date is 2032.
This patent was granted in 2012 in China, Eurasia, Russia, Europe, Israel, Mexico, Malaysia, New Zealand. This
patent is owned by the Company and was not licensed from third parties. The patent protection means that the method
that the Company uses to generate dendritic cells cannot be commercially used, distributed or sold without the
Company’s consent. These patent rights can be usually enforced in a court, which, in most systems, holds the
authority to stop patent infringement.

●

Method for generating tolerogenic dendritic cells employing decreased temperature (2007)
The Company has expanded the method of development of mature dendritic cells to also include the generation of
regulatory DC’s. In addition to DC’s used for cancer immunotherapy, The Company has developed an additional arm
of DC’s, namely regulatory/tolerogenic DC’s to be used for treatment of various autoimmune diseases such as Type 1
diabetes and Multiple Sclerosis. This patent was filed on November 13, 2008. Patent pending: worldwide. 1st Office
Action received in Europe August 25, 2010. This patent is owned by the Company and was not licensed from third
parties. The patent protection means that the method that the Company uses to produce tolerogenic dendritic cells
cannot be commercially used, distributed or sold without the Company’s consent. These patent rights can be usually
enforced in a court, which, in most systems, holds the authority to stop patent infringement.

●

Micro RNAs as markers of the functional state of a dendritic cell
This patent covers and demonstrates that functionally different DC’s carry unique microRNA signatures. By
examining a handful of microRNA profiles one can analyze the function of DC vaccines. We believe this is a valuable
addition to other vaccine quality control measures that are currently used in studies that involve DC’s. Critical
parameters for assessment of the optimal functional state of DC’s and prediction of the vaccine potency of activated
DC’s have in the past been based on measurements of differentiation surface markers like HLADR, CD80, CD83,
CD86, and CCR7 and the level of secreted cytokines like interleukin12p70. However, the level of these markers does
not provide a complete picture of the DC phenotype and may be insufficient for prediction of clinical outcome for
DCbased therapy. We have identified additional biomarkers by investigating the differential expression of
microRNAs (miRNAs) in mature DC’s relative to immature DC’s. The patent was filed on November 14, 2008. In
the International Preliminary Report on Patentability, a large majority of claims were found to be novel and
inventive. Patent pending: Europe and USA. 1st Office Action received in Europe on August 18, 2010. Follow up
action on election restriction received in the USA on October 21, 2010. This patent is owned by the Company and
was not licensed from third parties. The patent protection means that the method that the Company uses to test and
release its dendritic cells cannot be commercially used, distributed or sold without the Company’s consent.
These patent rights can be usually enforced in a court, which, in most systems, holds the authority to stop patent
infringement.

All of the above patents are protected by relevant international extensions.
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Trademarks
A policy of product trademarking and branding has been adopted by the Company. Trademarks have been obtained for the
following:
MelCancerVac™
MelVaxin™
DanDrit™
Commercial Secrets
In addition to intellectual property protected by patents and copyrights, the Company has commercial secrets relating to its
products, production processes, knowhow and future strategies. Where it is expedient to share such secret information this will be
done under the protection of a confidentiality (or secrecy) agreement. Such agreements require the signing parties to keep the
Company’s commercial secrets confidential unless:
●

at the time of disclosure the confidential information was already known to the recipient as evidenced by written
record predating such disclosure;

●

at the time of disclosure the confidential information is generally available to the public or subsequently becomes
available to the public other than by an act of omission on the part of the recipient; or

●

the confidential information has been made available to the recipient (on a nonconfidential basis) by a third party
having the lawful right to do so.

Industry
Our lead products for NSCLC (17.35%) and CRC (8.25%) address 25.6% of all cancer deaths.
Cancer is one of the leading causes of morbidity and mortality worldwide, with approximately 14 million new cases in
2012 (source Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Ervik M, Dikshit R, Eser S, Mathers C et al. GLOBOCAN 2012 v1.0, Cancer Incidence
and Mortality Worldwide: IARC Cancer Base No. 11). The number of new cases is expected to rise by about 70% over the next 2
decades. Cancer is the second leading cause of death globally, and was responsible for 8.8 million deaths in 2015. Globally, nearly
1 in 6 deaths is due to cancer (source: World Health Organization). The economic impact of cancer is significant and is increasing.
The total annual economic cost of cancer in 2010 was estimated at approximately $1.16 trillion (source: Stewart BW, Wild CP,
editors, World Cancer Report 2014).
The pertreatment price of chemotherapy for CRC in the United States is approximately $30,000. We expect that, if our
vaccine is approved for use in CRC patients, the cost pertreatment will be approximately equal to the pertreatment cost of
chemotherapy.
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Governmental Regulation
MCV and any future product candidates that we will be developing will require approval of the FDA before they can be
marketed in the U.S. Although our focus at this time is primarily on the U.S. market, in the future similar approvals will need to be
obtained from foreign regulatory agencies before we can market our current and proposed product candidates in other countries.
The process for filing and obtaining FDA approval to market therapeutic products is both timeconsuming and costly, with
no certainty of a successful outcome. The historical failure rate for companies seeking to obtain FDA approval of therapeutic
products is high and, with the exception of Dendreon Corp.’s dendritic cell vaccine for the treatment of prostate cancer, no cancer
stem cell or dendritic cellbased cancer vaccine has to date been approved by the FDA. This process includes conducting extensive
preclinical research and clinical testing, which may take longer and cost more than we initially anticipate due to numerous factors,
including without limitation, difficulty in securing appropriate centers to conduct trials, difficulty in enrolling patients in
conformity with required protocols in a timely manner, unexpected adverse reactions by patients in the trials to our proposed
product candidates and changes in the FDA’s requirements for our testing during the course of that testing.
The time required to obtain FDA and other approvals is unpredictable but often can exceed five years following the
commencement of clinical trials, depending upon the complexity of the product and other factors. Any analysis we perform of data
from preclinical and clinical activities is subject to confirmation and interpretation by regulatory authorities, which could delay,
limit or prevent regulatory approval. We may also encounter unexpected delays or increased costs due to a variety of reasons,
including new government regulations from future legislation or administrative actions or from changes in FDA policy during the
period of product development, clinical trials and FDA regulatory review.
Any delay or failure in our clinical trial program and in obtaining required approvals would have a material adverse effect
on our ability to generate revenues from the particular product. Furthermore, any regulatory approval to market a product may be
subject to limitations on the indicated uses for which we may market the product. These limitations may limit the size of the market
for the product.
Environmental Matters
We are subject to a broad range of federal, state, local and foreign environmental laws and regulations which govern,
among other things, air emissions, wastewater discharges and the handling, storage disposal and release of wastes and hazardous
substances. It is our policy to comply with applicable environmental requirements at all of our facilities. We are also subject to
laws, such as the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, that may impose liability retroactively
and without fault for releases or threatened releases of hazardous substances at onsite or offsite locations. We are subject to
similar requirements in Denmark and other European countries.
Research and Development
Research and development costs are charged to operations as incurred and consist primarily of clinical trial costs related to
manufacturing costs, consulting costs, contract research and development costs, and compensation costs.
Discovery and preclinical research and development expenses include costs for substantial external scientific personnel,
technical and regulatory advisers, and others, costs of laboratory supplies used in our internal research and development projects,
travel, regulatory compliance, and expenditures for preclinical and clinical trial operation and management when we are actively
engaged in clinical trials. Because we are prerevenue company, we do not allocate research and development costs on a project
basis. We adopted this policy, in part, due to the unreasonable cost burden associated with accounting at such a level of detail and
our limited number of financial and personnel resources.
Expenses for Companysponsored research and development for the year ended June 30, 2017 and year ended June 30,
2016 were $62,763 and $804,188, respectively.
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Competition
There is extensive competition in the biopharmaceutical industry and the technology is developing rapidly. If newly
developed products of our competitors are more efficient, cheaper, more patientfriendly, safer, or better placed than the Company’s
vaccine candidates, or if the Company’s competitors develop drugs that reduce or eliminate the need for the Company’s vaccine
candidates, such competition could reduce or eliminate the Company’s commercial opportunities. Many of the Company’s
competitors have substantially greater financial, technical and human resources than DanDrit and significantly more experience
than DanDrit with preclinical and clinical research and development and in obtaining regulatory approval of pharmaceutical
products.
The Company’s drugs may face competition as a result of many factors, including the route of administration (e.g. oral
administration vs. injection), the availability and cost of production, efficiency of the Company’s partners’ marketing and sales
efforts as well as the price of the Company’s products. DanDrit has limited or no previous experience in these areas. The
Company’s inability to compete effectively would have a material adverse effect on the Company’ business, financial condition,
results of operations and future growth opportunities. At this time, the Company does not represent a significant presence in the
biopharmaceutical industry.
Employees
The Company currently has 3 fulltime employees.
Facilities and Offices
The Company’s corporate headquarters are located at Stumpedyssevej 17, 2970 Hørsholm, Denmark.
We lease
approximately 1,108 square feet at our Symbion location which is used for work and storage of cells and biological material in
freezers, and the lease terminates on September 30, 2017. The Company has an office in New York which is a virtual office space
that can be terminated by the Company with one month’s notice.
Corporate History
DanDrit USA was originally incorporated in Delaware on January 18, 2011 under the name “Putnam Hills Corp.” as a
vehicle to pursue a business combination through the acquisition of, or merger with, an operating business. We filed a Registration
Statement on Form 10 with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, on August 12, 2011.
On February 12, 2014, in accordance with the terms and conditions of a Share Exchange Agreement, we completed the
acquisition of approximately 100% of the issued and outstanding capital stock of DanDrit Denmark and as a result became DanDrit
Denmark’s parent company. In connection with this Share Exchange, each outstanding share of common stock of DanDrit Denmark
was exchanged for 1.498842 shares of DanDrit USA’s common stock, par value $0.0001 per share (“Common Stock”) for an
aggregate of 6,000,000 shares, including 185,053 shares of Common Stock reserved for issuance, in accordance with Section 70 of
the Danish Companies Act and the Articles of Association of DanDrit Denmark, to the DanDrit Denmark stockholders who did not
consent to the Share Exchange and deemed issued and outstanding for accounting purposes. In addition, in connection with the
Share Exchange (1) the sole stockholder prior to the Share Exchange agreed to cancel 4,400,000 shares of outstanding Common
Stock owned by it and (2) the board of directors and executive management of DanDrit Denmark were appointed to serve as the
Board of Directors and executive management of DanDrit USA, respectively, effective upon the resignation of the sole officer and
director of DanDrit USA prior to the closing of the Share Exchange.
In June 2015, DanDrit USA’s Board of Directors, or the Board, approved a change to its fiscal year end from December 31
to June 30.
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Emerging Growth Company
As a company with less than $1.0 billion in revenue during our last fiscal year, we qualify as an “emerging growth
company” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act, or JOBS Act, enacted in April 2012. An “emerging growth
company” may take advantage of reduced reporting requirements that are otherwise applicable to public companies. These
provisions include, but are not limited to:
●

Reduced disclosure about our executive compensation arrangements;

●

No nonbinding shareholder advisory votes on executive compensation or golden parachute arrangements;

●

Exemption from the auditor attestation requirement in the assessment of our internal control over financial reporting;
and

●

Reduced disclosure of financial information in this prospectus, limited to two years of audited financial information
and two years of selected financial information.

Each of the foregoing exemptions is currently available to us. We may take advantage of these exemptions until the last
day of our fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of the date of the first sale of our common equity securities pursuant to an
effective registration statement under the Securities Act, which such fifth anniversary will occur on June 30, 2019 or such earlier
time that we are no longer an emerging growth company. We would cease to be an emerging growth company if we have more than
$1.0 billion in annual revenues as of the end of a fiscal year, if we are deemed to be a large accelerated filer under the rules of the
SEC, or if we issue more than $1.0 billion of nonconvertible debt over a threeyearperiod. The JOBS Act permits an emerging
growth company to take advantage of an extended transition period to comply with new or revised accounting standards applicable
to public companies; provided, however, that an emerging growth company may elect to opt out of the extended transition period
and comply with the requirements that apply to nonemerging growth companies but any such election to opt out is irrevocable. We
have not elected to opt out of the transition period.
Because we have elected to take advantage of certain of the reduced disclosure obligations and may elect to take
advantage of other reduced reporting requirements in future filings, the information that we provide to our stockholders may be
different than you might receive from other public reporting companies in which you hold equity interests.
Item 1A. Risk Factors
Not required for smaller reporting companies.
1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
There are no unresolved SEC staff comments.
Item 2. Properties
The Company has the following three (3) leases:
Location
Stumpedyssevej 17,
2970 Hørsholm, Denmark

Use
Terms
The Location is shared with a Shared with a Director’s company at no cost to the Company.
Director of the Company

Symbion Science Park,
Fruebjergvej 3, 2100
Copenhagen, Denmark

1,108 square feet used for
This Lease terminates September 30, 2017.
work and storage of cells and
biological material in freezers

375 Park Avenue
Suite 2607
New York, NY 10152

Virtual office space

On March 25, 2015, the Company entered into an agreement for use
of virtual office space at a rate of $450/month on a monthtomonth
basis, which can be terminated by either party on one month’s
notice.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings
From time to time, we may be involved in litigation relating to claims arising out of our operations in the normal course of
business. We are not currently a party to in any legal proceeding that we believe would have a material adverse effect on our

business, financial condition or operating results.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
Not applicable.
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PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Market Information
Our Common Stock is quoted on the OTCQB. The following table sets forth the range of high and low bid quotations on
the Common Stock for the quarterly periods indicated, as reported by the National Quotation Bureau, Inc. The quotations are inter
dealer prices without retail markups, mark downs or commissions and may not represent actual transactions.
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2017
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter
First Quarter
Second Quarter

$
$
$
$

High
2.75
2.65
1.90
2.45

$
$
$
$

Low
0.75
1.30
0.70
1.15

$
$
$
$

High
6.25
5.00
3.90
3.50

$
$
$
$

Low
4.00
3.00
1.50
1.25

Holders of Common Stock
As of September 28, 2017 we had 13,727,538 shares of Common Stock issued and outstanding and approximately 89
stockholders of record.
Dividends
The Company has not declared or paid any cash dividends on its Common Stock and does not intend to declare or pay any
cash dividend in the foreseeable future. The payment of dividends, if any, is within the discretion of the Board and will depend on
the Company’s earnings, if any, its capital requirements and financial condition and such other factors as the Board may consider.
Sales of Unregistered Securities
On April 21, 2017, the Company issued 200,000 shares of Common Stock to a consultant in consideration for services
relating to the improvement of the efficacy of the Company’s vaccine protocol.
On April 21, 2017, the Company issued fiveyear warrants to purchase 100,000 shares at $1.30 per share to a consultant to
assist in the development of a new science based on immune therapy.
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On May 15, 2017, the Company completed a private placement offering of units, with each unit consisting of one share of
Common Stock and two warrants to purchase one share of Common Stock at a strike price of $1.30 per share (each, a “Unit”), for
$1.30 per Unit. In total, the Company issued and sold 2,700,000 shares of Common Stock and warrants to acquire 5,400,000 shares
of Common Stock for total proceeds to the Company of $3,510,000.
On July 12, 2017, Company completed a private placement offering of 1,231,561 Units for total proceeds to the Company
of $1,601,029.
The private placements above were made directly by the Company in reliance upon Section 4(a)(2), Regulation D and/or
Regulation S and no underwriter or placement agent was engaged by the Company.
Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans
On February 6, 2014, the Board adopted the Company’s 2014 Equity Incentive Plan. As of the date of this report, no
awards have been made from the plan.
Item 6. Selected Financial Data
The registrant is a smaller reporting company and is not required to provide this information.
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our
financial statements and the related notes to those statements included elsewhere in this report. In addition to the historical
financial information, the following discussion and analysis contains forwardlooking statements that involve risks and
uncertainties. Our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forwardlooking statements.
The Company has conducted three singlearm Phase II clinical trials in cancer with its dendritic cell vaccine MCV. The
three clinical trials generated data indicating prospects in a larger and different clinical setting. The FDA has not reviewed
MCV. Therefore, any assessment of its safety or efficacy only reflects the opinion of the Company. Furthermore, it does not
indicate that MCV will achieve favorable results in any later stage trials or that the FDA or comparable agency will ultimately
determine that MCV is safe and effective for purposes of granting marketing approval.
The Company has designed a randomized trial with 174 stage IV colorectal cancer patients after surgical resection and
chemotherapy. The Company has not yet begun the trial.
To date, our operations have been funded by sales of our securities, loans and, to a lesser extent, by sales of our products.
Sales of our products alone will not support our current operations and we expect this to be the case until our MCV vaccine is
approved for marketing in the United States and Europe. Even if we are successful in having MCV approved for sale in the United
States and Europe, we cannot guarantee that a market for the product will develop. We may never be profitable.
Change in Fiscal Year End
In June 2015, the Board approved a change to its fiscal year end from December 31 to June 30. In view of this change, this
Annual Report compares the financial statements as of and for the years ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016.
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Share Exchange
On February 12, 2014, the Company closed a Share Exchange in accordance with the terms and conditions of a Share
Exchange Agreement and as a result became DanDrit Denmark’s parent company. In connection with the Share Exchange, each
outstanding share of common stock of DanDrit Denmark was exchanged for 1.498842 shares of DanDrit USA’s Common Stock for
an aggregate of 6,000,000 shares, including 185,053 shares of Common Stock reserved for issuance, in accordance with Section 70
of the Danish Companies Act and the Articles of Association of DanDrit Denmark, to the DanDrit Denmark shareholders who did
not consent to the Share Exchange and deemed issued and outstanding for accounting purposes. In addition, in connection with the
Share Exchange (1) the sole shareholder prior to the Share Exchange agreed to cancel 4,400,000 shares of outstanding Common
Stock owned by it and (2) the board of directors and executive management of DanDrit Denmark were appointed to serve as the
Board of Directors and executive management of DanDrit USA, respectively effective upon the resignation of the sole officer and
director of DanDrit USA prior to the closing of the Share Exchange.
Recent Developments
On April 21, 2017, the Company engaged a consultant to improve the efficacy of the Company’s vaccine protocol MCV.
The compensation to the consultant was $75,000 plus 200,000 common shares of the Company’s stock valued at $240,000.
On April 21, 2017, the Company engaged a consultant to improve the efficacy of the Company’s vaccine protocol MCV.
The compensation to the consultant was $5,000 per month plus 100,000 warrants to purchase common shares at $1.30 per share
expiring April 21, 2022 valued at $115,754.
In July 2017, DanDrit USA executed a nonbinding letter of intent for the acquisition of a biotechnology company with
certain intellectual property rights in the field of HIV.
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Year ended June 30, 2017 compared to the year ended June 30, 2016.
The following table sets forth our revenues, expenses and net income for the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016. The
financial information below is derived from our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this report.

Net Sales

$

For the Year Ended
June 30,
2017
2016
 $
42,769

Cost of Goods Sold



5,275

Gross Profit (Loss)
Operating Expenses:
General and administrative expenses
Research and Development expenses
Depreciation and Amortization
Consulting expenses



37,494

1,560,332
62,763
14,528
762,804

1,229,865
804,188
27,395
96,976

Total Operating Expense

2,400,427

2,158,424

(2,400,427)

(2,120,930)

(11,210)
(15,049)
218,979



(2,364)

(74,732)



192,720

(77,096)

Income (Loss) from Operations
Other Income (Expense)
Interest (Expense)
Interest (Expense), Related Party
Gain (loss) on currency transactions
Gain on derivative liability
Interest and other income
Total Other Income (Expense)
Loss Before Income Taxes
Income Tax Expense (Benefit)

(2,207,707)
(64,877)

(2,198,026)
(462,787)

Net Loss

(2,142,830)

BASIC AND DILUTED LOSS PER SHARE

$

WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDING  BASIC
AND DILUTED
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(0.17) $

12,266,441

(1,735,239)
(0.18)

9,533,290

For the Year Ended
June 30,
2017
2016
(Net Loss)
(Currency Translation, Net of Taxes)

$ (2,142,830) $ (1,735,239)
(211,461)
20,701

(Other Comprehensive Loss)

$ (2,354,291) $ (1,714,538)

Comparison of the Years ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016
Revenues
Our net sales for the year ended June 30, 2017 were $0 as compared to June 30, 2016, where net sales were $42,769. The
decrease in 2017 is attributable to no compassionate use sales of lysate in 2017.
Cost of Goods Sold
Our cost of goods sold for the year ended June 30, 2017 were $0 as compared to June 30, 2016, where cost of goods sold
were $5,275, representing a year over year decrease in cost of goods sold of $5,275 or 100%. The decrease was due to our
manufacturing of lysate in 2016.
Gross Profit Loss
Gross profit for the years ended June 30, 2017 was $0 compared to a gross loss of $37,494 during the same period in 2016,
representing a decrease in the gross profit (loss) of $37,494. The change in gross losses are a result of compassionate use sales in
2017.
Expenses
Our operating expense for the year ended June 30, 2017 totaled $2,400,427, representing an increase of 242,003 or 11.2%
compared to $2,158,424 for the year ended June 30, 2016. The largest contributor to the operating expenses for the year ended June
30, 2017 is the increase in consulting expenses.
General and administrative expense for the year ended June 30, 2017 was $1,560,332, compared to $1,229,865 for the
year ended June 30, 2016, representing an increase of $330,467, or 26.9%. The net increase was due primarily to an increase in
legal expenses.
Depreciation and amortization expenses for the year ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 were $14,528 and $27,395,
respectively, representing a decrease of $12,867 or 47%.
Consulting expenses for the years, ended June 30, 2017 totaled $762,804 compared to $96,976 for the year ended June 30,
2016, representing an increase of $665,828, or 687%. The increase is mainly attributable to increased use of the consulting firm,
APE Invest A/S, a firm of one of the Directors of the Company and a consultant study on MCV.
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Other income (expense) net for the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 were $192,720 and $(77,096), respectively,
representing an increase of $269,816 or 350%. This increase was due primarily to the increase in gains on currency transactions.
Net Loss
Net loss for the years ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016 was $2,142,830 and $1,735,239, respectively, representing
an increase in the loss of $657,591, or 23.5%. The increase in the net loss for the year ended June 30, 2017 is primarily due to the
increase of the operating expenses and consulting expenses and a decrease in the current tax benefit for Danish research and
development tax credits.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
We have historically satisfied our capital and liquidity requirements through funding from our largest shareholders, the
issuance of convertible notes (which over time have been converted into shares of our Common Stock) and the sale of Common
Stock. At June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016, we had cash and cash held in escrow of $3,941,711 and $23,368 and working capital /
(deficit) of $1,209,461 and $(775,750), respectively.
On May 15, 2017, the Company completed a private placement offering of units, with each unit consisting of one share of
the Company’s Common Stock and two warrants to purchase one share of Common Stock at a strike price of $1.30 per share (each,
a “Unit”), for $1.30 per Unit. In total, the Company issued and sold 2,700,000 shares of Common Stock and warrants to acquire
5,400,000 shares of Common Stock for total proceeds to the Company of $3,510,000.
On July 12, 2017, Company completed a private placement offering of 1,231,561 Units for total proceeds to the Company
of $1,601,029.
The private placements were made directly by the Company in reliance upon Section 4(a)(2), Regulation D and/or
Regulation S and no underwriter or placement agent was engaged by the Company.
We may also need additional funds for possible future strategic acquisitions of businesses, products or technologies
complementary to our business. If additional funds are required, we may raise such funds from time to time through public or
private sales of equity or debt securities. Financing may not be available on acceptable terms, or at all, and our failure to raise
capital when needed could materially adversely impact our growth plans and our financial condition and results of operations.
As of June 30, 2017 and 2016, the outstanding balance of $38,235 and $38,235 for professional fees paid by a shareholder
and amounts advanced to the Company are reported as notes payable  related party. The $38,235 notes payable were acquired in
the reverse acquisition. The amounts are unsecured, noninterest bearing and have no stipulated repayment terms.
A 6% promissory note payable to NLBDIT 2010 Enterprises, LLC, an entity controlled by a shareholder of the Company,
was acquired by the Company in the reverse acquisition, payable on February 12, 2014 upon the completion date of the Share
Exchange. As of June 30, 2017 and 2016, the outstanding balance on the note, including accrued interest, was $49,581 and
$47,223, respectively. During the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 the Company recorded related party interest on the note of
$2,358 and $2,354, respectively.
On July 1, 2016, the Company entered into a noninterest bearing convertible note for $60,150, with an entity controlled
by a shareholder of the Company. The note matures December 31, 2017. The note is convertible into shares of Common Stock at
$2.00 per share. As the Common Stock was trading at $2.05 on August 24, 2016, the Company bifurcated the intrinsic value of the
beneficial conversion feature and recorded a discount of $15,038. As the note is noninterest bearing the Company imputed the
interest at 3% and further recorded a discount of $2,639. The discount is being amortized to expense using the effective interest
method through the December 31, 2017 maturity. For twelve months ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016, interest expense of
$11,045 and $0, respectively, was recorded for the amortization of the discount.
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On July 19, 2016, the Company entered into a noninterest bearing convertible note for $60,150, with an entity controlled
by a shareholder of the Company. The note matures December 31, 2017. The note is convertible into shares of Common Stock at
$2.00 per share. As the note is noninterest bearing the Company imputed the interest at 3% and further recorded a discount of
$2,555. The discount will be amortized to expense using the effective interest method through the December 31, 2017 maturity. For
the twelve months ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016, interest expense of $1,655 and $0, respectively, was recorded for the
amortization of the discount.
On August 24, 2016, the Company entered into a noninterest bearing convertible note for $90,225. Later the convertible
note was acquired by an entity controlled by a board member and shareholder of the Company. The note matures December 31,
2017. The note is convertible into shares of Common Stock at $2.00 per share. As the Company’s Common Stock was trading at
$2.05 on August 24, 2016 the Company bifurcated the intrinsic value of the beneficial conversion feature and recorded a discount
of $2,256. As the note is noninterest bearing the Company imputed the interest at 3% and further recorded a discount of $3,577.
The discount will be amortized to expense using the effective interest method through the December 31, 2017 maturity. For twelve
months ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016, interest expense of $3,615 and $0, respectively, was recorded for the amortization
of the discount.
On September 21, 2016, the Company entered into a noninterest bearing convertible note for $150,375. Later the
convertible note was acquired by an entity controlled by a board member and shareholder of the Company. The note matures
December 31, 2017. The note is convertible into shares of Common Stock at $2.00 per share. As the note is noninterest bearing the
Company imputed the interest at 3% and further recorded a discount of $5,630. The discount will be amortized to expense using the
effective interest method through the December 31, 2017 maturity. For the twelve months ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016,
interest expense of $3,382 and $0, respectively, was recorded for the amortization of the discount.
On March 9, 2017, the Company entered into a noninterest bearing convertible note for $52,770, with an entity controlled
by a shareholder of the Company. The note matured June 30, 2017. The note is convertible into shares of Common Stock at $2.00
per share. As the note is noninterest bearing the Company imputed the interest at 3% and further recorded a discount of $486. The
discount will be amortized to expense using the effective interest method through the June 30, 2017 maturity. For the twelve
months ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016, interest expense of $486 and $0, respectively, was recorded for the amortization of
the discount.
The Company has recorded $1,600,355 in advances – related party for funds received as of June 30, 2017 in connections
with the July 12, 2017 private placement.
Cash Flows
Year ended June 30, 2017 compared to the year ended June 30, 2016
Cash used from operating activities for the year ended June 30, 2017 was $1,177,478, representing a decrease of $294,811
compared to the cash used from operating activities of $1,472,289 for the year ended June 30, 2016. This decrease was primarily
due to the increase in noncash compensation and consulting expenses in 2017.
Changes in assets and liabilities as of June 30, 2017 compared to June 30, 2016 included the following:
For the year ended June 30, 2017, other receivables decrease $471,641 primarily for research and development tax credits,
related party payables increased $137,643, accounts payable decreased $652,785 and accrued expenses increased $9,369. For the
year ended June 30, 2016 other receivables increased $263,293 primarily for research and development tax credits, related party
payables decreased $268,678, accounts payable increased $574,975 and accrued expenses increased $203,927.
Cash used in investing activities was $(196,140) for the year ended June 30, 2017, as compared to cash used in investing
activities of $(1,052,989) for the year ended June 30, 2016. From time to time the Company’s Danish counsel holds cash balance in
escrow on behalf of the Company.
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During the year ended June 30, 2017, the Company loaned $196,140 to a biopharmaceutical company pursuant to a
promissory note for up to $500,000 executed by the Company. The note matures on July 13, 2020, bears interest of 5% per annum
and can be repaid early without penalty. The Company may accelerate payment under the note upon certain events of default
provided therein, whereby all amounts owed will become immediately due and payable. The loan is a longterm debt obligation as
defined in Item 303(a)(5)(ii)(A) of Regulation SK that is material to the Company.
Cash provided by financing activities was $5,506,601 for the year ended June 30, 2017 as compared to cash provided by
financing activities of $0 for the year ended June 30, 2016. During the Year ended June 30, 2017 the Company received $1,582,931
in related party notes payable, of which $1,600,355 was converted to Common Stock in the July 12, 2017 private placement. The
Company also received $413,670 in convertible notes payable and $3,510,000 in a private placement of Common Stock.
Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of June 30, 2017, and 2016, we had no offbalance sheet arrangements. We are not aware of any material transactions
which are not disclosed in our consolidated financial statements.
Significant Accounting Policies and Critical Accounting Estimates
The methods, estimates, and judgments that we use in applying our accounting policies have a significant impact on the
results that we report in our consolidated financial statements. Some of our accounting policies require us to make difficult and
subjective judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates regarding matters that are inherently uncertain. In addition,
Section 107 of the JOBS Act provides that an emerging growth company can take advantage of the extended transition period
provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act for complying with new or revised accounting standards. In other words, an
emerging growth company can delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to
private companies. We are not choosing to “opt out” of this provision. Section 107 of the JOBS Act provides that our decision to
opt out of the extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards is irrevocable. As a result of our
election, not to “opt out” of Section 107, the Company’s financial statements may not be comparable to companies that comply
with public company effective dates.
Our most critical accounting estimates include:
Property and Equipment — Property and equipment are stated at cost. Expenditures for major renewals and betterments
that extend the useful lives of property and equipment are capitalized, upon being placed in service. Expenditures for maintenance
and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. Depreciation is computed for financial statement purposes on a straightline basis
over the estimated useful lives of the assets which range from four to six years.
Intangible Assets — Definite life intangible assets include patents. The Company accounts for definite life intangible
assets in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board, (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification, (“ASC”) Topic
350, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” and amortized the patents on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life of
twenty years. Costs incurred in relation to patent applications are capitalized costs and amortized over the estimated useful life of
the patent. If it is determined that a patent will not be issued, the related remaining patent application costs are charged to expense.
Revenue Recognition and Sales — The Company’s sales of its MelCancerVac colorectal cancer treatment have been
limited to a compassionate use basis in Singapore after stage IIA trials and the vaccine is not currently approved for sale for any
other use or location. The Company accounts for revenue recognition in accordance with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101,
“Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements” (SAB 101), FASB ASC 605 Revenue Recognition. The Company recognizes
revenue when rights and risk of ownership have passed to the customer, when there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement,
product has been shipped or delivered to the customer, the price and terms are finalized, and collection of the resulting receivable is
reasonably assured. Products are primarily shipped FOB shipping point at which time title passes to the customer.
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Value Added Tax  In Denmark, Value Added Tax (“VAT”) of 25% of the invoice amount is collected in respect of the
sales of goods on behalf of tax authorities. The VAT collected is not revenue of the Company; instead, the amount is recorded as a
liability on the balance sheet until such VAT is paid to the authorities. VAT of 25% is also paid to Danish and EU vendors on
invoices. These amounts are refundable from the respective governmental authority and recorded as other receivables in the
accompanying financial statements.
Accounting Estimates  The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the
disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amount of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimated.
Recently Enacted Accounting Standards
For a description of accounting changes and recent accounting standards, including the expected dates of adoption and
estimated effects, if any, on our consolidated financial statements, see “Note 1: Recent Accounting Pronouncements” in the
financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report.
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
The registrant is a smaller reporting company and is not required to provide this information.
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4397 South Albright Drive, Salt Lake City, UT 84124
(801) 2772763 Phone ● (801) 2776509 Fax
Board of Directors
DANDRIT BIOTECH USA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
Stumpedyssevej 17, 2970
Hørsholm, Denmark
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of DanDrit Biotech USA, Inc. and Subsidiary as of June
30, 2017 and 2016, and the related consolidated statements of operations, consolidated other comprehensive income, consolidated
stockholders’ equity (deficit) and consolidated cash flows for the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016. These consolidated financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free of material misstatement. The company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its
internal controls over financial reporting for the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016. Our audit included consideration of internal
controls over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal controls over financial reporting for the years
ended June 30, 2017 and 2016. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall consolidated financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, based on our audit, the consolidated financial statements audited by us present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of DanDrit Biotech USA, Inc. and Subsidiary as of June 30, 2017 and 2016, and the
consolidated results of their operations and their consolidated cash flows for the for the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, in
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America.
/s/ Gregory & Associates, LLC
November 20, 2017
Salt Lake City, Utah
F1

DANDRIT BIOTECH USA INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
For the Year Ended
June 30,
June 30,
2017
2016
ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash
Other receivables
Prepaid expenses

$ 3,941,712
223,777
33,391

Total Current Assets

732,479





124,393
2,739
196,140
323,272

135,743
2,609

138,352

4,522,152

870,831

OTHER ASSETS:
Definite life intangible assets
Deposits
Loan Receivable
Total Other Assets

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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23,368
695,418
13,693

4,198,880

Property and Equipment, net accumulated depreciation

Total Assets

$

DANDRIT BIOTECH USA INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
For the Year Ended
June 30,
June 30,
2017
2016
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities:
Notes payable  related party, current portion
Accounts payable  trade
Accounts payable  related party
Convertible notes payablerelated party, (net of discounts of $11,997 and $0, respectively)
Accrued expenses

1,688,171
434,973
235,000
401,673
229,601

102,882
1,087,758
97,357

220,232

Total Current Liabilities

2,989,418

1,508,229

Total Liabilities

2,989,418

1,508,229





STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT):
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and outstanding
Common stock; par value 0.0001, 100,000,000 shares authorized, 12,433,290 shares issued and
outstanding at June 30, 2017; 9,533,290 shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2016
Additional paidin capital
Accumulated Deficit
Other comprehensive income (Loss), net
Total Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ (Deficit)

1,243
29,622,183
(28,443,524)
352,832
1,532,734
$ 4,522,152

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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953
25,098,050
(26,300,694)
564,293
(637,398)
$

870,831

DANDRIT BIOTECH USA INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
For the Year Ended
June 30,
June 30,
2017
2016
$
 $
42,769

Net Sales
Cost of Goods Sold



5,275

Gross Profit (Loss)
Operating Expenses:
General and administrative expenses
Research and development expenses
Depreciation and Amortization
Consulting expenses



37,494

1,560,332
62,763
14,528
762,804

1,229,865
804,188
27,395
96,976

Total Operating Expense

2,400,427

2,158,424

Loss from Operations
Other Income (Expense)
Interest and other (expense)
Interest (expense) – related party
Gain (loss) on currency transactions
Interest and other income
Total Other Income (Expense)

(2,400,427)

(2,120,930)

(11,210)
(15,049)
218,979

192,720

(10)
(2,354)
(74,732)

(77,096)

Loss Before Income Taxes
Income Tax Expense (Benefit)
Net Loss

(2,207,707)
(64,877)
(2,142,830)

(2,198,026)
(462,787)
(1,735,239)

BASIC AND DILUTED LOSS PER SHARE

(0.17) $

$

WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDING BASIC AND
DILUTED
WEIGHTED AVERAGE BASIC AND DILUTED LOSS PER SHARE

12,266,441
$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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(0.17) $

(0.18)

9,533,290
(0.18)

DANDRIT BIOTECH USA INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
For the Year Ended
June 30,
June 30,
2017
2016
(Net Loss)
(Currency Translation, Net of Taxes)

$ (2,142,830) $ (1,735,239)
(211,461)
20,701

(Other Comprehensive Loss)

$ (2,354,291) $ (1,714,538)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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DANDRIT BIOTECH USA INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS' (DEFICIT)
For the Years Ended June 30, 2017, June 30, 2016, and June 30, 2015
Additional
Paid in
Capital

Common Stock
Shares
Amount
BALANCE, June 30, 2015

9,533,290

$

Accumulated
Earnings
(Deficit)

953

$ 25,098,050

Other
Comprehensive
Income (loss)

$ (24,565,455) $

543,592

Equity Adjustment for Foreign Currency
Translation for the year ended June 30, 2016.







Net Loss for the year Ended June 30, 2016







953

$ 25,098,050





32,182









626,487





BALANCE, June 30, 2016

9,533,290

Imputed intrinsic value and interest for the
Convertible Notes issued July 1, 2016, July
21, 2016, August 24, 2016, September 21,
2016, and March 9, 2017

$


(1,735,239)
$ (26,300,694) $

20,701

564,293

Options to purchase 900,000 common shares
at $2.00 per share issued as compensation
to officers and director on September 15,
2016.
Warrants to purchase 100,000 common
shares at $1.30 per share for consulting
services April 21, 2017
Common shares issued on June 9, 2017 in
connection with a consulting agreement.





115,754





200,000

20

239,980





Private placement of 2,700,000 units at $1.30
per unit. Units consists of 2,700,000
common shares, and warrants to purchase
5,400,000 common shares at $1.30 per
share

2,700,000

270

3,509,730





Equity Adjustment for Foreign Currency
Translation for the Year Ended June 30,
2017









Net Loss for the Year Ended June 30, 2017







1,243

$ 29,622,183

BALANCE, June 30, 2017

12,433,290

$

(2,142,830)
$ (28,443,524) $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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(211,461)

(352,832)

DANDRIT BIOTECH USA INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the Year Ended
June 30,
June 30,
2017
2016
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net (Loss)

$ (2,142,830) $ (1,735,239)

Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) to net cash provided (used) by operations:
Depreciation and amortization
Noncash compensation
Accretion of discount on notes payable
Accrued Interest on Notes Payable – Related Party
Changes in assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in other receivable,
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses & deposits
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable – related party
Increase (decrease) in accrued expenses
Total Adjustments
Net Cash (Used) by Operating Activities

14,528
982,241
20,185
2,358

27,395


2,354

471,641
(19,828)
(652,785)
137,643
9,369

(263,293)
(13,730)
574,975
(268,678)
203,927

965,352

262,950

(1,177,478)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Net decrease (increase) in cash held in escrow
Net decrease (increase) in notes receivable
Net Cash Used by Investing Activities

(1,472,289)


(196,140)
(196,140)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Proceeds from notes payable  related party
Proceeds from convertible notes payable – related party
Proceeds from issuance of common stock units
Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities

1,052,989

1,052,989

1,582,931
413,670
3,510,000
5,506,601

(Gain) loss on Currency Translation






(214,639)

21,523

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents

3,918,344

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Period
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Period

23,368

421,145

3,941,712

23,368

21,560
64,003




Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information:
Cash paid during the year for
Interest
Income Taxes
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF NONCASH INVESTING AND FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
Discount for imputed interest on noninterest bearing Convertible Notes Payable
Discount for beneficial conversion feature of Convertible Notes Payable
Amortization of discount on convertible notes payable
Compensation for the issuance of warrants for consulting
Compensation for the issuance of stock options to officers and directors
Compensation for the issuance of stock for consulting services

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

14,888
17,294
20,185
115,754
626,487
240,000

(397,777)

$
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DANDRIT BIOTECH USA INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Business and Basis of Presentation  DanDrit Biotech USA, Inc. (“DanDrit USA”, the “Company”, “we”, “us”, or
“Parent”) (formerly Putnam Hills Corp) was originally incorporated in the State of Delaware on January 18, 2011 as a vehicle to
pursue a business combination through the acquisition of, or merger with, an operating business.
DanDrit BioTech A/S, a Danish corporation was incorporated on April 1, 2001 (“DanDrit Denmark”) a 96.92% owned
subsidiary of the Company. The Company engages in the research and development, manufacturing and clinical trials of
pharmaceutical and biological products for the human treatment of cancer
Year End  In June 2015, DanDrit USA’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) approved a change to its fiscal year end from
December 31 to June 30.
Reverse Acquisition  On February 12, 2014, pursuant to the Share Exchange Agreement (the "Share Exchange
Agreement"), DanDrit USA completed the acquisition of 100% of the issued and outstanding capital stock of DanDrit Denmark
(the “Share Exchange”) and as a result became DanDrit Denmark’s parent company. Prior to the Share Exchange there were
5,000,000 shares of the common stock, par value $.0001 per share (the “Common Stock”) of Parent outstanding. Parent and an
existing shareholder agreed to cancel 4,400,000 shares of its Common Stock and issued 1,440,000 shares of Common Stock for
legal and consulting services related to the Share Exchange and a future public offering. At the time of the Share Exchange each
outstanding share of common stock of DanDrit Denmark was exchanged for 1.498842 shares of Common Stock, for a total of
6,000,000 shares, resulting in 8,040,000 shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately following the Share Exchange,
including 185,053 shares of Common Stock reserved for issuance in accordance with Section 70 of the Danish Companies Act and
the Articles of Association of DanDrit Denmark to the DanDrit Denmark shareholders who have not consented to the Share
Exchange (the “NonConsenting Shareholders”), and deemed issued and outstanding for accounting purposes.
Consolidation  For the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, the consolidated financial statements include the accounts
and operations of the DanDrit Denmark, and the accounts and operations of DanDrit USA. All material intercompany transactions
and accounts have been eliminated in the consolidation.
Functional Currency / Foreign currency translation  The functional currency of DanDrit Denmark is the Danish
Kroner (“DKK”). The Company’s reporting currency is the U.S. Dollar for the purpose of these financial statements. The
Company’s balance sheet accounts are translated into U.S. dollars at the periodend exchange rates and all revenue and expenses
are translated into U.S. dollars at the average exchange rates prevailing during years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016. Translation
gains and losses are deferred and accumulated as a component of other comprehensive income in stockholders’ equity. Transaction
gains and losses that arise from exchange rate fluctuations from transactions denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency are included in the statement of operations as incurred.
Cash and Cash Equivalents  The Company considers all highly liquid debt instruments purchased with a maturity of
three months or less to be cash equivalents. The Company had balances held in financial institution in the in Denmark and in the
United States in excess of federally insured States amounts at June 30, 2017 and 2016 of $3,441,711 and $0, respectively.
Property and Equipment  Property and equipment are stated at cost. Expenditures for major renewals and betterments
that extend the useful lives of property and equipment are capitalized upon being placed in service. Expenditures for maintenance
and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. Depreciation is computed for financial statement purposes on a straightline basis
over the estimated useful lives of the assets which range from four to six years (See Note 3).
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DANDRIT BIOTECH USA INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Intangible Assets  Definite life intangible assets include patents. The Company accounts for definite life intangible assets
in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board, (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification, (“ASC”) Topic 350,
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” and amortized the patents on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life of twenty
years. Costs incurred in relation to patent applications are capitalized cost and amortized over the estimated useful life of the patent.
If it is determined that a patent will not be issued, the related remaining patent application costs are charged to expense.
Impairment of LongLived Assets  Longlived assets, such as property, plant, and equipment and patents are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.
Circumstances which could trigger a review include, but are not limited to: significant decreases in the market price of the asset;
significant adverse changes in the business climate or legal factors; current period cash flow or operating losses combined with a
history of losses or a forecast of continuing losses associated with the use of the asset; and current expectation that the asset will
more likely than not be sold or disposed of significantly before the end of its estimated useful life.
Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to estimated
undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated
undiscounted future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized by the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset
exceeds the fair value of the asset. Assets to be disposed of would be separately presented in the balance sheet and reported at the
lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell, and would no longer be depreciated. The depreciable basis of assets
that are impaired and continue in use is their respective fair values.
Revenue Recognition and Sales  The Company’s sales of its MelCancerVac colorectal cancer treatment have been
limited to a compassionate use basis in Singapore after stage IIA trials and is not approved for current sale for any other use or
location. The Company accounts for revenue recognition in accordance with the Securities and Exchange Commission Staff
Accounting Bulletin No. 101, “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements” (SAB 101), FASB ASC 605 Revenue Recognition.
The Company recognizes revenue when rights and risk of ownership have passed to the customer, when there is persuasive
evidence of an arrangement, product has been shipped or delivered to the customer, the price and terms are finalized, and
collections of the resulting receivable is reasonably assured. Products are primarily shipped FOB shipping point at which time title
passes to the customer.
Value Added Tax  In Denmark, Value Added Tax (“VAT”) of 25% of the invoice amount is collected in respect of the
sales of goods on behalf of tax authorities. The VAT collected is not revenue of the Company; instead, the amount is recorded as a
liability on the balance sheet until such VAT is paid to the authorities. VAT of 25% is also paid to Danish and EU vendors on
invoices. These amounts are refundable from the respective governmental authority and recorded as other receivables in the
accompanying financial statements.
Research and Development Expenses  The Company expenses research and development expenses incurred in
formulating, improving, validating and creating alternative or modified processes related to and expanding the use of our MAGE –
A dendrite cell cancer therapy. Research and development expenses were included in operating expenses for the year ended June
30, 2017 and year ended June 30, 2016 with the amount of $62,763 and $804,188, respectively.
Income Taxes  The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 740 Accounting for
Income Taxes. This statement requires an asset and liability approach for accounting for income taxes.
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DANDRIT BIOTECH USA INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Loss Per Share  The Company calculates earnings/(loss) per share in accordance with FASB ASC 260 Earnings Per
Share. Basic earnings per common share (EPS) are based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during
each period. Diluted earnings per common share are based on shares outstanding (computed as under basic EPS) and potentially
dilutive common shares. Potential common shares included in the diluted earnings per share calculation include inthemoney stock
options that have been granted but have not been exercised. Because of the net loss for the twelve months ended June 30, 2017 and
June 30, 2016, the dilutive shares for both periods were excluded from the Diluted EPS calculation as the effect of these potential
common shares is antidilutive.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments  The Company accounts for fair value measurements for financial assets and
financial liabilities in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 820. The authoritative guidance, which, among other things, defines fair
value, establishes a consistent framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosure for each major asset and liability
category measured at fair value on either a recurring or nonrecurring basis. Fair value is defined as the exit price, representing the
amount that would either be received to sell an asset or be paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants. As such, fair value is a marketbased measurement that should be determined based on assumptions that market
participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. As a basis for considering such assumptions, the guidance establishes a three
tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value as follows:
●

Level 1. Observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

●

Level 2. Inputs, other than the quoted prices in active markets, that are observable either directly or indirectly; and

●

Level 3. Unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data, which require the reporting entity to develop
its own assumptions.

Unless otherwise disclosed, the fair value of the Company’s financial instruments including cash, accounts receivable,
prepaid expenses, investments, accounts payable, accrued expenses, capital lease obligations and notes payable approximates their
recorded values due to their shortterm maturities.
Stock Options and Warrants  The Companies has granted stock options to certain employees, officers and directors.
See Note 10. During the years presented in the accompanying consolidated financial statements, the Company has granted stock
options and warrants. The Company accounts for options and warrants in accordance with the provisions of FASB ASC Topic 718,
Compensation – Stock Compensation. Noncash compensation costs of $1,232,241 and $0 have been recognized for the vesting of
options and warrants granted to employees and consultants with an associated recognized tax benefit of $0 and $0 for the years
ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
StockBased Compensation —The Company accounts for employee stockbased compensation in accordance with the
guidance of Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, Accounting Standards Codification, or ASC, Topic 718,
Compensation—Stock Compensation, which requires all sharebased payments to employees, including grants of employee stock
options, to be recognized in the financial statements based on their fair values. The fair value of the equity instrument is charged
directly to compensation expense and credited to additional paidin capital over the period during which services are rendered.
The Company follows ASC Topic 505  50, formerly EITF 9618, “Accounting for Equity Instruments that are Issued to
Other than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling Goods and Services,” for stock options and warrants issued to
consultants and other nonemployees. In accordance with ASC Topic 50550, these stock options and warrants issued as
compensation for services provided to the Company are accounted for based upon the fair value of the services provided or the
estimated fair market value of the option or warrant, whichever can be more clearly determined. The fair value of the equity
instrument is charged directly to compensation expense and additional paidin capital over the period during which services are
rendered.
Accounting Estimates  The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the
disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amount of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimated.
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DANDRIT BIOTECH USA INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Recent Accounting Pronouncements  In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued a new
standard to achieve a consistent application of revenue recognition within the U.S., resulting in a single revenue model to be
applied by reporting companies under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Under the new model, recognition of revenue
occurs when a customer obtains control of promised goods or services in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. In addition, the new standard requires that reporting
companies disclose the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers.
On July 9, 2015, the FASB agreed to delay the effective date by one year; accordingly, the new standard is effective for us
beginning in the first quarter of 2018 and we expect to adopt it at that time. The new standard is required to be applied
retrospectively to each prior reporting period presented or retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying it
recognized at the date of initial application. We have not yet selected a transition method, nor have we determined the impact of the
new standard on our consolidated financial statements.
In February 2016, the FASB issued changes to the accounting for leases that primarily affect presentation and disclosure
requirements. The new standard will require the recognition of a right to use asset and underlying lease liability for operating leases
with an initial life in excess of one year. This standard is effective for us beginning in the first quarter of 2019. We have not yet
determined the impact of the new standard on our consolidated financial statements.
Other recent accounting pronouncements issued by the FASB did not or are not believed by management to have a
material impact on the Company's present or future financial statements.
Reclassification  The financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2016, have been reclassified to conform to the
headings and classifications used in the June 30, 2017 financial statements.
Restatement – The financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2017, have been restated to adjust the consulting
expense recorded for the 200,000 shares issued to a consultant from $2.45 per share the Stock price on June 9, 2017 to $1.20 per
share the stock price on April 21, 2017 the date of the agreement or consulting expense for the issuance of $490,000 to $240,000.
As
As
Previously
Restated
Reported
$ 29,622,183 $ 29,872,183
(28,443,524) (28,693,524)
762,084
1,012,084
)
(2,400,427
(2,650,427)
(2,142,830)
(2,392,830)
(.17)
(.20)
(2,354,291)
(2,604,291)
982,241
1,232,241

Additional Paid in Capital
Accumulated Deficit
Consulting Expense
Loss from Operations
Net Loss
Loss Per Share
Other Comprehensive Loss
Non Cash Compensation
NOTE 2 — PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment consisted of the following at June 30, 2017 and 2016:

Lab equipment and instruments
Computer equipment
Less Accumulated Depreciation
Net Property and Equipment

Useful Life
46
46

June 30,
June 30,
2017
2016
$
168,627 $
163,959
57,754
56,155
226,381
220,114
(226,381)
(220,114)
$



$



Depreciation expense amounted to $0 and $0 for years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The Company’s
property and equipment is held as collateral on the notes payable related party.
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DANDRIT BIOTECH USA INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 3 — DEFINITELIFE INTANGIBLE ASSETS
At June 30, 2017 and 2016, definitelife intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization, consist of patents on the
Company’s products and processes of $124,393 and $135,743, respectively. The patents are recorded at cost and amortized over
twenty years from the date of application. Amortization expense for the year ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was $19,781 and
$27,396, including $0 and $12,048, respectively in losses on abandoned assets. Expected future amortization expense for the years
ended are as follows:
Year ending June 30,
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
Thereafter

$

14,794
14,794
14,835
14,794
14,794
46,938

$

120,949

NOTE 4 — NOTE RECEIVABLE
On July 14, 2017, the Company agreed to loan to a biopharmaceutical company up to $500,000 in exchange for a
promissory note executed by the Company. The note matures on July 13, 2020, bears interest of 5% per annum and can be repaid
early without penalty. The Company may accelerate payment under the note upon certain events of default provided therein,
whereby all amounts owed will become immediately due and payable. The loan is a longterm debt obligation as defined in Item
303(a)(5)(ii)(A) of Regulation SK that is material to the Company. As of June 30, 2017, the Company has loaned the
biopharmaceutical company $196,140 with up to an additional $303,860 agreed to be lent.
The following represents the future maturities of longterm receivables as of June 30, 2017:
Year ending June 30,
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
Thereafter



196,140



$

196,140

NOTE 5 — NOTES PAYABLE – RELATED PARTY
Notes payable to related parties consists of the following as of June 30, 2017 and 2016:

NonInterest Bearing Loan Payable Sunrise Financial Group Inc.
Note Payable ML Group
Advances to purchase common shares in connection with private placement
6% Promissory Note payable to NLBDIT 2010 Enterprises, LLC
Total Notes Payable – Related Party
Less Current Maturities
Note Payables – Related Party Long Term
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June 30,
June 30,
2017
2016
$
38,235 $
38,235

17,414
1,600,355

49,581
47,233
1,688,171
102,882
(1,688,171)
(102,882)
$



$



DANDRIT BIOTECH USA INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 5 — NOTES PAYABLE – RELATED PARTY (continued)
The following represents the future maturities of longterm debt as of June 30, 2017:
Year ending June 30,
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
Thereafter

1,688,171





$ 1,688,171

As of June 30, 2017, the outstanding balance of $38,235 for professional fees paid by a shareholder and amounts advanced
to the Parent are reported as notes payable  related party. The $38,235 notes payable were acquired in the reverse acquisition. The
amounts are unsecured, noninterest bearing and have no stipulated repayment terms.
A 6% promissory note payable to NLBDIT 2010 Enterprises, LLC, an entity controlled by a shareholder of the Company,
was acquired by the Company in the reverse acquisition, payable on February 12, 2014 upon the completion date of the Share
Exchange. As of June 30, 2017 and 2016, the outstanding balance on the note, including accrued interest, was $49,581 and
$47,233, respectively. During the year ended June 30, 2017 and the year ended June 30, 2016 the Company recorded related party
interest on the note of $2,348 and $2,354, respectively.
The Company has recorded $1,600,355 in advances – related party for funds received as of June 30, 2017 in connections
with the July 12, 2017 private placement. On July 12, 2017, the advances were converted into units at $1.30 per unit. The units
consist of 1,231,043 common shares and warrants to purchase 2,462,086 common shares at $1.30 per share, expiring July 12, 2022.
NOTE 6 — CONVERTIBLE NOTES PAYABLE – RELATED PARTY
Convertible Notes payable to related parties consist of the following as of June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016:

NonInterest Bearing Notes Payable Paseco ApS
NonInterest Bearing Notes Payable Equine Invest APS/PoMa Aps
NonInterest Bearing Notes Payable TBC A/S
Less Discount
Total Convertible Notes Payable – Related Party
Less Current Maturities
Net Convertible Note Payables – Related Party Long Term

June 30,
June 30,
2017
2016
$
120,300 $
240,600
52,770
(11,997)
401,673 $
(401,673)








$





The following represents the future maturities of shortterm debt as of June 30, 2017:
Year ending June 30,
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
Thereafter

413,670





413,670
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DANDRIT BIOTECH USA INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 6 — CONVERTIBLE NOTES PAYABLE – RELATED PARTY (continued)
On July 1, 2016, the Company entered into a noninterest bearing convertible note for $60,150, with an entity controlled
shareholder of the Company (the “July 1 Note”). The note matures December 31, 2017. The note is convertible into shares of
Common Stock at $2.00 per share. As the Company’s Common Stock was trading at $2.05 on August 24, 2016, the Company
bifurcated the intrinsic value of the beneficial conversion feature and recorded a discount of $15,038. As the note is noninterest
bearing the Company imputed the interest at 3% and further recorded a discount of $2,639. The interest is being amortized to
expense using the effective interest method through the December 31, 2017 maturity. For twelve months ended June 30, 2017 and
June 30, 2016, interest expense of $11,045 and $0, respectively, was recorded for the amortization of the discount.
On July 19, 2016, the Company entered into a noninterest bearing convertible note for $60,150, with an entity controlled
by a shareholder of the Company (the “July 19 Note”). The note matures December 31, 2017. The note is convertible into shares of
Common Stock at $2.00 per share. As the note is noninterest bearing the Company imputed the interest at 3% and further recorded
a discount of $2,555. The interest will be amortized to expense using the effective interest method through the December 31, 2017
maturity. For the twelve months ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016, interest expense of $1,656 and $0, respectively, was
recorded for the amortization of the discount.
On August 24, 2016, the Company entered into a noninterest bearing convertible note for $90,225 with a shareholder of
the Company (the “August 24 Note”). The August 24 Note was later acquired by a then board member and shareholder of the
Company. The August 24 Note had a maturity date of December 31, 2017 and was originally convertible into shares of Common
Stock at $2.00 per share and the holder of the note has provided the Company with a notice of conversion to convert such note (see
Note 13 to the Financial Statements). As the Company’s Common Stock was trading at $2.05 on August 24, 2016 the Company
bifurcated the intrinsic value of the beneficial conversion feature and recorded a discount of $2,256. As the August 24 Note is non
interest bearing the Company imputed the interest at 3% and further recorded a discount of $3,577. The interest will be amortized
to expense using the effective interest method through the December 31, 2017 maturity. For twelve months ended June 30, 2017
and June 30, 2016, interest expense of $3,616 and $0, respectively, was recorded for the amortization of the discount.
F14

DANDRIT BIOTECH USA INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 6 — CONVERTIBLE NOTES PAYABLE – RELATED PARTY (continued)
On September 21, 2016 the Company entered into a noninterest bearing convertible note for $150,375 with a shareholder
of the Company (the “September 21 Note”). The September 21 Note was later acquired by an entity controlled by a then board
member and shareholder of the Company. The September 21 Note had a maturity date of December 31, 2017 and was originally
convertible into shares of Common Stock at $2.00 per share, and the holder of the note has provided the Company with a notice of
conversion to convert such note (see Note 13 to the Financial Statements). As the September 21 Note is noninterest bearing the
Company imputed the interest at 3% and further recorded a discount of $5,630. The interest will be amortized to expense using the
effective interest method through the December 31, 2017 maturity. For the twelve months ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016,
interest expense of $3,382 and $0, respectively, was recorded for the amortization of the discount.
On March 9, 2017, the Company entered into a noninterest bearing convertible note for $52,770 with an entity controlled
by shareholder and former board member of the Company (the “March 9 Note” and together with the July 1 Note, the July 19 Note,
the September 21 Note, August 24 Note, the “ 2016/2017 Notes”). The note was originally convertible into shares of Common
Stock at $2.00 per share (See Note 13 to the Financial Statements). As the March 9 Note is noninterest bearing the Company
imputed the interest at 3% and further recorded a discount of $486. The interest will be amortized to expense using the effective
interest method through the June 30, 2017 maturity. For the twelve months ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016, interest expense
of $486 and $0, respectively, was recorded for the amortization of the discount.
NOTE 7 — LEASES
Operating Leases — The Company leases laboratory and production space under an operating lease agreement which
terminates on September 30, 2017. The lease calls for monthly payments of DKK 6,575 (approximately $1,009 at June 30, 2017).
The Company has an agreement for use of virtual office space at a rate of $450 per month on a monthtomonth basis,
which can be terminated by either party on one month’s notice.
For the twelve months ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016 the lease expense charged to operations was $16,914 and
$15,744, respectively.
NOTE 8 — INCOME TAXES
The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 740, Accounting for Income Taxes; which
requires the Company to provide a net deferred tax asset or liability equal to the expected future tax benefit or expense of
temporary reporting differences between book and tax accounting and any available operating loss or tax credit carry forwards. The
amount of and ultimate realization of the benefits from the deferred tax assets for income tax purposes is dependent, in part, upon
the tax laws in effect, the Company’s future earnings, and other future events, the effects of which cannot be determined.
As of June 30, 2017 and 2016, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $11,465,000 and
$10,136,400, respectively, giving rise to deferred tax assets of $2,522,287 and $2,230,008, respectively for Danish tax purposes
which do not expire.
As of June 30, 2017 and 2016, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $1,254,003 and
$934,920, respectively, giving rise to deferred tax assets of $426,361 and $328,072, respectively for United States tax purposes
which expire in 2036.
The Company files Danish and U.S. income tax returns, and they are generally no longer subject to tax examinations for
years prior to 2008 for their Danish tax returns and 2012 for their U.S. tax returns.
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DANDRIT BIOTECH USA INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 8 — INCOME TAXES (continued)
The temporary differences, tax credits and carry forwards gave rise to the following deferred tax asset (liabilities) at June
30, 2017 and 2016:
June 30,
Excess of Tax over book depreciation Fixed assets
Excess of Tax over book depreciation Patents
Net Operating Loss Carryforward
Valuation Allowance
Total Deferred Tax Asset (Liabilities)

$

$

2017
2016
6,753 $
7,660
4,975
870
2,948,648
2,558,080
(2,960,376)
(2,566,610)


$



In accordance with prevailing accounting guidance, the Company is required to recognize and disclose any income tax
uncertainties. The guidance provides a twostep approach to recognize and disclose any income tax uncertainties. The guidance
provides a twostep approach to recognizing and measuring tax benefits and liabilities when realization of the tax position is
uncertain. The first step is to determine whether the tax position meets the morelikelythannot condition for recognition and the
second step is to determine the amount to be recognized based on the cumulative probability that exceeds 50%. The amount of and
ultimate realization of the benefits from the deferred tax assets for income tax purposes is dependent, in part, upon the tax laws in
effect, the Company’s future earnings, and other future events, the effects of which can be difficult to determine and can only be
estimated. Management estimates that it is more likely than not that the Company will not generate adequate net profits to use the
deferred tax assets; and consequently, a valuation allowance was recorded for all deferred tax assets.
A reconciliation of income tax expense at the federal statutory rate to income tax expense at the Company’s effective rate
is as follows for the year ended June 30, 2017 and the year ended June 30, 2016:
June 30,
Computed Tax at Expected Statutory Rate
NonUS Income Taxed at Different Rates
NonDeductible expenses / other items
Valuation allowance
Income Tax Expense

$

$

2017
(750,620) $
47,252
244,725
393,766
(64,877) $

2016
(747,329)
236,700
32,209
15,633
(462,787)

The components of income tax expense (benefit) from continuing operations for the year ended June 30, 2017 and the year
ended June 30, 2016 consisted of the following:
June 30,
Current Tax Expense
Danish Income Tax (Benefit)
Total Current Tax Expense (Benefit)

$
$

Deferred Income Tax Expense (Benefit)
Excess of Tax over Book Depreciation Fixed Assets
Excess of Tax over Book Depreciation Patents
Net Operating Loss Carryforwards
Change in the Valuation allowance
Total Deferred Tax Expense

2017
(64,877) $
(64,877) $

907
(4,105)
(390,568)
393,766
$



2016
(462,787)
(462,787)

2,580
4,690
(22,903)
15,633
$



Deferred income tax expense/(benefit) results primarily from the reversal of temporary timing differences between tax and
financial statement income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 9 — LOSS PER SHARE
The following data shows the amounts used in computing loss per share and the effect on income and the weighted
average number of shares of potential dilutive Common Stock for the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016:

Net (Loss)
Weighted average number of common shares used in basic earnings per share
Effect of dilutive securities, stock options and warrants
Weighted average number of common shares and potential dilutive common shares outstanding
used in dilutive earnings per share

For the
For the
Year Ended Year Ended
June 30,
June 30,
2017
2016
$ (2,142,830) $ (1,735,239)
12,266,441
9,533,290


12,266,441

9,533,290

The following Common Stock equivalents were not included in the calculation of dilutive common shares outstanding as
the effect would be antidilutive.
For the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, the Company had 900,000 and zero (0) options outstanding to purchase
common shares, respectively. The options vested upon grant, contain certain antidilution provisions that provide for antidilution
in the sole discretion of the board and expire December 31, 2019.
For the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, the Company had 5,500,000 and zero (0) warrants outstanding to purchase
common shares at $1.30 per share, respectively. Each warrant vested upon issuance and expires five years from issuance.
At June 30, 2017, the Company had five convertible notes payable totaling $413,670 which are convertible into 206,835
common shares.
At June 30, 2017, the Company had related party notes payable totaling $1,600,335 that were used to subsequently
purchase 1,231,561 Units on July 12, 2017 consisting of 1,231,561 share of Common Stock and warrants to purchase 2,463,122
shares of Common Stock for $1.30 each share expiring July 12, 2022.
NOTE 10 — STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Common Stock — The Company has 100,000,000 authorized shares of Common stock $0.0001. As of June 30, 2017 and
2016 there were 12,433,290 and 9,533,290 shares issued and outstanding, respectively.
Voting Holders of the Company’s Common Stock are entitled to one vote for each share held of record on each matter
submitted to a vote of stockholders, including the election of directors, and do not have any right to cumulate votes in the election
of directors.
Dividends Holders of the Company’s Common Stock are entitled to receive ratably such dividends as our Board from
time to time may declare out of funds legally available.
Liquidation Rights In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or windingup of affairs of the Company, after payment of
all of our debts and liabilities, the holders of the Company’s Common Stock will be entitled to share ratably in the distribution of
any of our remaining assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 10 — STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (continued)
Common Stock Issuances  Pursuant to a private placement offering the Company sold 2,700,000 units consisting of
2,700,000 common shares and warrants to purchase 5,400,000 common shares for $3,510,000 or $1.30 per unit. The warrants are
exercisable at $1.30 per share expiring through May 15, 2022. The Company effected the issuances of the shares of Common Stock
from April 21, 2017 to May 15, 2017.
On June 9, 2017, the Company issued 200,000 common shares valued at $240,000 in connection with a consulting
agreement at $1.20 per share.
Share Exchange Agreement / Reverse Acquisition  On February 12, 2014, in accordance with the terms and conditions
of the Share Exchange Agreement, we completed the acquisition of approximately 100% of the issued and outstanding capital
stock of DanDrit Denmark and as a result became DanDrit Denmark’s parent company. In connection with the Share Exchange,
each outstanding share of common stock of DanDrit Denmark was exchanged for 1.498842 shares of DanDrit USA’s common
stock, par value $0.0001 per share (the “Common Stock”) for an aggregate of 6,000,000 shares, including 185,053 shares of
Common Stock reserved for issuance, in accordance with Section 70 of the Danish Companies Act and the Articles of Association
of DanDrit Denmark, to the DanDrit Denmark shareholders who did not consent to the Share Exchange and deemed issued and
outstanding for accounting purposes. In addition, in connection with the Share Exchange (1) the sole shareholder prior to the Share
Exchange agreed to cancel 4,400,000 shares of outstanding Common Stock owned by it and (2) the board of directors and
executive management of DanDrit Denmark was appointed to serve as the Board of Directors and executive management of
DanDrit USA effective upon the resignation of the sole officer and director of DanDrit USA prior to the closing of the Share
Exchange.
Stock Options — On September 15, 2016, Parent’s Board of Directors approved the grant of stock options to employees,
officers, and directors of the Company. The Board granted 300,000 options at a strike price of $2.00 per share to each of Eric Leire,
APE Invest A/S for Aldo Petersen and N.E. Nielson, in consideration of their service to the Company, for an aggregate of 900,000
options (the “September 2016 Grants”). The options vested upon grant, contain certain antidilution provisions that provide for
antidilution in the sole discretion of the board, and expire December 31, 2019.
The Company recognizes compensation costs for stock option awards to employees based on their grantdate fair value.
The value of each stock option is estimated on the date of grant using the BlackScholes optionpricing model. The weighted
average assumptions used to estimate the fair values of the stock options granted using the BlackScholes optionpricing model are
as follows:
DanDrit
Biotech
USA, Inc.
3.29
189.65%
0.87%
0%

Expected term (in years)
Volatility
Risk free interest rate
Dividend yield

The Company recognized stock based compensation expense related to the options of $626,487 and $0 for the years ended
June 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively. At June 30, 2017, the Company had approximately $0 of unrecognized compensation cost
related to nonvested options.
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NOTE 10 — STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (continued)
A summary of the status of the options outstanding at June 30, 2017 is presented below:

Exercise
Prices
$
2.00


Total

Options Outstanding
Weighted
Average
Weighted
Remaining
Average
Number
Contractual
Exercise
Outstanding Life (years)
Price
900,000
2.5 $
2.00
900,000
2.5 $
2.00

Options Exercisable
Weighted
Average
Number
Exercise
Exercisable
Price
900,000 $
2.00
900,000 $
2.00

A summary of the status of the options for the nine months ended June 30, 2017, and changes during the period are
presented below:
June 30, 2017
Weighted
Average
Average
Exercise
Remaining
Price
Life

Shares
Outstanding at beginning of period
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Expired
Outstanding at end of period
Vested and expected to vest
Exercisable end of period

0
900,000



900,000
900,000

$

900,000

Weighted
Average
Intrinsic
Value


2.5



2.5
2.5

$

$
$


2.00



2.00
2.00

$
$









$

2.00

2.5

$



At June 30, 2017, all options issued are exercisable. The total intrinsic value of options at June 30, 2017 was $0. Intrinsic
value is measured using the fair market value at the date of exercise (for shares exercised) or at June 30, 2017 (for outstanding
options), less the applicable exercise price.
Common Stock Purchase Warrants
A summary of the status of common shares which can be purchased underlying the warrants outstanding at June 30, 2017
is presented below:

$

Exercise Prices
1.30
Total

Equivalent Shares Underlying Warrants Outstanding
Weighted
Average
Remaining
Weighted
Contractual Life Average Exercise
Equivalent Shares
(years)
Price
5,500,000
4.9 $
1.30
5,500,000
4.9 $
1.30

Equivalent Shares Exercisable

Number
Exercisable
5,500,000
5,500,000

Weighted
Average Exercise
Price
$
1.30
$
1.30

At June 30, 2017, the Company had 0 nonvested warrants. The Company recorded noncash compensation expense of
$115,754 and $0 for the year ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 related to the 100,000 warrants issued for consulting services on April
21, 2017. The warrants were valued using the BlackScholes option pricing model using the following assumptions 5 year expected
term, 188% volatility, 1.77% risk free interest rate and 0% dividend yield.
The exercise price of certain warrants and the number of shares underlying the warrants are subject to adjustment for stock
dividends, subdivisions of the outstanding shares of Common Stock and combinations of the outstanding shares of Common Stock.

For so long as the warrants remain outstanding, we are required to keep reserved from our authorized and unissued shares of
Common Stock a sufficient number of shares to provide for the issuance of the shares underlying the warrants.
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NOTE 11 — COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Shares held for nonconsenting shareholders – In connection with the Share Exchange agreement certain shareholders of
Dandrit Denmark had not been identified or did not consent to the exchange of shares. In accordance with Section 70 of the Danish
Companies Act and the Articles of Association of DanDrit Denmark, the NonConsenting Shareholders that did not exchange the
DanDrit Denmark equity interests owned by such NonConsenting Shareholders for shares of the Company, will be entitled to
receive up to 185,053 shares of Common Stock of the Company that each such NonConsenting Shareholder would have been
entitled to receive if such shareholder had consented to the Share Exchange. The 185,053 shares have been reflected as issued and
outstanding in the accompanying financial statements.
Clinical Trial Agreements – The Company’s subsidiary, DanDrit Denmark, signed a contract of collaboration with the
University Hospital IRCCS “San Martino”  IST – National Institute for Cancer Research, known as the San Martino Hospital of
Genoa. Dr. Alberto Sobrero, the Head of the Medical Oncology Unit at the San Martino Hospital, is principal investigator of the
randomized multicenter study. The collaboration relates to a Phase III adjuvant study of the Company’s vaccine in patients with no
evident disease (“NED”) stage IV colorectal cancer (“CRC”). The primary goal of the study is to evaluate the efficacy of the
Company’s MelCancerVac® (“MCV”) in stage IV CRC patients rendered disease free after the completion of standard treatments
in accordance with local practices. In May 2017, this contract was terminated.
On April 28, 2015, the Company entered into a service agreement with Fondazione GISCAD per la RicercasuiTumori to
support the Company in a clinical trial to be conducted in Italy. In May 2017, this contract was terminated.
Patient Name Use Program Agreements  On December 16, 2013, DanDrit Denmark entered into an agreement with a
Dutch company (the “MCV Partner”) regarding a Patient Name Use Program (PNU) for the Company’s MCV. This program will
allow DanDrit Denmark to sell MCV for a year of treatment (10 vaccines) to cancer patients through the MCV Partner. The MCV
Partner offers a worldwide online platform providing access to nonregistered medicines for patients with life threatening diseases.
The MCV Partner is a turnkey solution and will be in charge of regulatory, recruitment, logistics, and pharmaco vigilance. The
Company will pay the MCV Partner a royalty on a country to country basis for 20 years on MCV sales sold under the agreement.
Either party may terminate the agreement with 180 day written notice.
On April 23, 2015, the Company entered into a collaboration agreement with Riyadh Pharma in Saudi Arabia to promote
cooperation in the manufacturing and marketing of the Company’s dendritic cell cancer vaccine.
Manufacturing agreements  On January 28, 2014, the Company entered into an agreement with Cellin Technologies for
the manufacture of the MCV Cancer vaccine.
On August 8, 2014, the Company entered into an agreement with Cellin Technologies for the manufacture of the
Melanoma Cell Lysate.
Food and Drug Administration (FDA)  The FDA has extensive regulatory authority over biopharmaceutical products
(drugs and biological products), manufacturing protocols and procedures and the facilities in which they will be manufactured. Any
new bio product intended for use in humans is subject to rigorous testing requirements imposed by the FDA with respect to product
efficacy and safety, possible toxicity and side effects. FDA approval for the use of new bio products (which can never be assured)
requires several rounds of extensive preclinical testing and clinical investigations conducted by the sponsoring pharmaceutical
company prior to sale and use of the product. At each stage, the approvals granted by the FDA include the manufacturing process
utilized to produce the product. Accordingly, the Company’s cell systems used for the production of therapeutic or bio therapeutic
products are subject to significant regulation by the FDA under the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, as amended.
Product liability  The contract production services for therapeutic products offered exposes an inherent risk of liability as
bio therapeutic substances manufactured, at the request and to the specifications of customers, could foreseeably cause adverse
effects. The Company seeks to obtain agreements from contract production customers indemnifying and defending the Company
from any potential liability arising from such risk. There can be no assurance, however, that the Company will be successful in
obtaining such agreements in the future or that such indemnification agreements will adequately protect the Company against
potential claims relating to such contract production services. The Company may also be exposed to potential product liability
claims by users of its products. A successful partial or completely uninsured claim against the Company could have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s operations.
Employment Agreements  The Company and its Subsidiary have employment agreements with officers of the Company.

Contingencies  The Company is from time to time involved in routine legal and administrative proceedings and claims of
various types. While any proceedings or claim contains an element of uncertainty, management does not expect a material impact
on our results of operations or financial position.
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NOTE 12 — RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
JARO Holding ApS is owned by a prior director of the Company, and it provided medical consultancy services to the
Company. During year ended June 30, 2017 and, 2016, the Company recorded medical consultancy expense of $0, $44,620,
respectively.
During the year ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, a law firm partially owned by the Company’s former Chairman of the
Board provided legal services to the Company and recorded legal expense of $268,620 and $105,107, respectively. At June 30,
2017 and June 30, 2016, the Company had an escrow account of $214,876 and $0 and with the DLA Piper Law Firm, previously
the Lett Law Firm.
APE Invest is owned by a former director of the Company, and it provided consultancy services to the Company. During
year ended June 30, 2017 and, 2016, the Company recorded medical consultancy expense of $280,000 and $0, respectively.
NOTE 13 — SUBSEQUENT EVENT
In accordance with ASC 85510, Company management reviewed all material events through the date of this report. The
following material subsequent events occurred.
On July 11, 2017, the Company appointed Robert Wolfe as Chief Financial Officer.
On July 12, 2017, the Company completed a private placement offering of 1,231,561 Units consisting of 1,231,561 shares
of Common Stock and warrants to purchase 2,463,122 shares of Common Stock for $1.30 each share expiring July 12, 2022, for
total proceeds to the Company of $1,601,029.
On July 14, 2017, the Company agreed to loan a biopharmaceutical company up to $500,000 to fund preclinical study
programs in exchange for a promissory note. The note matures on July 13, 2020, bears interest of 5% per annum and can be repaid
early without penalty. The Company may accelerate payment under the note upon certain events of default provided therein,
whereby all amounts owed will become immediately due and payable. The loan is a longterm debt obligation as defined in Item
303(a)(5)(ii)(A) of Regulation SK that is material to the Company.
On August 30, 2017, the Company issued 62,687 common shares valued at $1.80 per share or $112,837 to Dr. Leire in
connection with his employment agreement.
Between July 1, 2016 and March 9, 2017, the Company entered into the 2016/2017 Notes with shareholders of the
Company, one of whom is a former director of the Company (see Note 6). On October 31, 2017, the Company executed
amendments to the 2016/2017 Notes and issued replacement notes to the current holders of such notes. The 2016/2017 Notes, as
amended, are convertible into shares of Common Stock at $1.60 per share and mature on December 31, 2017. The holder of the
August 24 Note, as amended and the September 21 Note, as amended, provided the Company with a notice of conversion to
convert such notes to 150,374 shares of Common Stock.
On October 9, 2017, the Board of Directors of the Company accepted the amicable resignation of Torben Bjørn
Christensen as a director of the Company and appointed Henrik GrønfeldtSørensen to replace Mr. Christensen as a director.
On October 13, 2017, the Company and two former directors of the Company agreed that the right of each to purchase
300,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at a strike price of $2.00 per share pursuant to the September 16 Grants would be
treated as warrants on terms materially identical to the September 2016 Grants. The Board subsequently approved such treatment
and the issuance of warrants to evidence the September 16 Grants to such directors.
On November 13, 2017, the Company entered into a Lease Agreement (the “Lease Agreement”) for a term of five years
and two months (the “Term”) with Plaza Medical Office Building, LLC, a California Limited Liability Company (the “Landlord”),
as landlord, pursuant to which the Company agreed to lease from the Landlord certain premises (the “Leased Premises”) located in
Los Angeles, to be used as the Company’s head office. The Leased Premises consist of approximately 2,325 rentable square feet.
The base rent for the Leased Premises increases by 3% each year over the Term, and ranges from approximately $8,718.75 per
month for the first year to $10,107.42 per month for the two months of the sixth year. The Company is entitled to $70,800 in tenant
improvement allowance in the form of free rent applied over 10 months in equal installments beginning in January of 2018.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
Not applicable.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer (the “Certifying Officers”) are responsible for establishing and
maintaining disclosure controls and procedures for the Company. The Certifying Officer has designed such disclosure controls and
procedures to ensure that material information is made known to him, particularly during the period in which this Report was
prepared.
The Certifying Officers are responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting
for the Company used the “Internal Control over Financial Reporting Integrated Framework” issued by Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations (“COSO”) to conduct an extensive review of the Company’s “disclosure controls and procedures” (as defined in the
Exchange Act, Rules 13a15(e) and 15d15(e)) as of the end of each of the periods covered by this Annual Report (the “Evaluation
Date”). Based upon that evaluation, the Certifying Officer concluded that, as of June 30, 2017, our disclosure controls and
procedures were not effective in ensuring that the information we were required to disclose in reports that we file or submit under
the SEC Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules
and forms.
The Certifying Officers based their conclusion on the fact that the Company has identified material weaknesses in controls
over financial reporting, detailed below. In order to reduce the impact of these weaknesses to an acceptable level, the Company has
contracted with consultants with expertise in U.S. GAAP and SEC financial reporting standards to review and compile all financial
information prior to filing that information with the SEC. However, even with the added expertise of these consultants, we still
expect to be deficient in our internal controls over disclosure and procedures until sufficient capital is available to hire the
appropriate internal accounting staff and individuals with requisite GAAP and SEC financial reporting knowledge. There have
been no significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the
date of their evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.
Management Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for the
Company. Management used the “Internal Control over Financial Reporting Integrated Framework” issued by COSO to conduct
an extensive review of the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting to make that evaluation. As of June 30, 2017, the
Company had identified deficiencies in internal controls that constituted material weaknesses in internal controls. Due to these
material weaknesses, management concluded that internal controls over financial reporting as of June 30, 2017 were not effective,
based on COSO’s framework.
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The deficiencies are attributed to the fact that the Company does not have adequate resources to address complex
accounting issues, as well as an inadequate number of persons to whom it can segregate accounting tasks within the Company so as
to ensure the segregation of duties between those persons who approve and issue payment from those persons who are responsible
to record and reconcile such transactions within the Company’s accounting system. These control deficiencies will be monitored
and attention will be given to the matter as we continue to accelerate through our current growth stage.
Management has concluded that these control deficiencies constitute a material weakness. In order to reduce the impact of
these weaknesses to an acceptable level, we have contracted with consultants with expertise in U.S. GAAP and SEC financial
reporting standards to review and compile all financial information prior to filing that information with the SEC. However, even
with the added expertise of these consultants, we still expect to be deficient in our internal controls over disclosure and procedures
until sufficient capital is available to hire the appropriate internal accounting staff and individuals with requisite GAAP and SEC
financial reporting knowledge. There were no significant changes in our internal control over financial reporting or in other factors
that occurred during our most recent fiscal year that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, internal
control over financial reporting.
This Annual Report does not include attestation reports of the Company’s registered public accounting firms regarding
internal controls over financial reporting. Management’s report was not subject to attestation by the Company’s registered public
accounting firm pursuant to rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission that permit the Company to provide only
management’s report in this Annual Report.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
On March 10, 2016, the Board accepted the amicable resignation of Lone Degn from the Company as its Chief Financial
Officer, effective March 10, 2016.
On March 30, 2017, the Board terminated Eric J. Leire as Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, and Mr. Leire resigned, as a director of the Company. The Board also appointed Mr. Aldo Petersen, a Director of the
Company, to serve as Chief Executive Officer and for Soren Degn to serve as Chief Financial Officer of the Company.
On June 9, 2017, the Board accepted the amicable resignation of Aldo Petersen as the Chief Executive Officer and as a
director of the Company and appointed Dr. Eric Leire to replace Mr. Petersen as the Chief Executive Officer.
On June 9, 2017, the Board also accepted the amicable resignation of Soren Degn as Chief Financial Officer of the
Company.
On July 11, 2017, the Board appointed Robert Wolfe as the Chief Financial Officer.
Except as set forth above, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
period covered by this report that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting.
Item 9B. Other Information
Effective July 11, 2017, the Company reappointed Robert Wolfe as the Chief Financial Officer, and DanDrit Denmark
entered into a CFO Service Agreement with Crossfield, Inc. a company owned by Mr. Wolfe, a copy of which is filed herewith as
Exhibit 10.8. The agreement provides that the Company will pay a signing fee of $7,500 and $90,000 per year for a total of
$97,500 subject to annual review and increases by the board of directors of DanDrit Denmark, as it deems appropriate. In addition,
the CFO will be entitled to receive reimbursement of all reasonable costs and expenses incurred in connection with the performance
of duties.
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
The following table identifies our current executive officers and directors, their ages, their respective offices and positions,
and their respective dates of election or appointment.
Name

Age

Position

Officer/Director
Since

Dr. Eric Leire

59

Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

June 2017

Mr. Robert Wolfe

54

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

July 2017

Mr. Renè Sindlev

55

Director

June 2017

Mr. Torben Bjørn Christensen

62

Director

June 2017

Executive officers are appointed by and serve at the pleasure of the Board. Our Certificate of Incorporation provides for
the annual election of directors. At each annual meeting of stockholders, our directors will be elected to serve until their respective
successors have been elected and qualified.
There are no family relationships, as defined in subparagraph (d) of Item 401 of Regulation SK, among any of our
executive officers and directors. To the best of our knowledge, none of our directors or executive officers has, during the past ten
years, been involved in any legal proceedings described in subparagraph (f) of Item 401 of Regulation SK.
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Background
The following is a brief summary of the background of each of our directors and executive officers.
Dr. Eric Patterson Leire, MD, MBA. Dr. Eric Leire has served as the Chief Executive Officer and a director of DanDrit
Denmark since June 2017 and previously from April 2011 to March 2017. Dr. Leire also served for two years as Chief Executive
Officer and director of DKTI A/S, a listed Danish investment company from September 2012. Prior to these roles Dr. Leire was a
partner at BioFund Venture Capital, a Finnish biotech venture fund, from August 2006 through September 2010 and a partner at
Medwell Capital Corp., a Canadian venture fund, from April 2010 through May 2011. Dr. Leire has worked globally for many
international pharmaceutical organizations, including ScheringPlough, Pfizer, Inc., Boots Pharmaceuticals Company PLC, Harvard
AIDS Institute and bioStrategies Group. Dr. Leire also served as the CEO of U.S. biotech companies APT Therapeutics and
Paringenix and currently serves on the board of directors of Novicol Canada. Dr. Leire received his medical degree from the
University of Medicine of Grenoble in 1980 and his MBA from ISAHEC and the Kellogg School of Management at Northwestern
University in 1991.
Mr. Robert Wolfe. Robert Wolfe has served as the Chief Financial Officer and Director from January 2014 to April 2015
and has served as Chief Financial Officer since July 2017. Concurrently, Mr. Wolfe is the Chairman and CEO for Advanced
Oxygen Technologies Inc. since 1997, the President and CEO of Crossfield, Inc. since 1989. From 19921993 he was Vice
President and partner for CFI, NY Ltd., a subsidiary of Corporate Financial Investments, PLC, London.
Mr. Renè Sindlev. Mr. Sindlev has served as a director of the Company since June 6, 2017. Mr. Sindlev is the owner of
RS Group. ApS, RS Arving ApS, RS Family ApS, Dr Smood ApS, Dr Smood Group Inc., and RS newton ApS. Mr. Sindlev was
owner and sold RS Aviation ApS and Gråbrødrestræde ApS. From 2002 to 2012 Mr. Sindlev was the CoFounder and President of
Pandora Jewelry America ApS, which was later sold and listed on NASDAQ DENMARK.
Mr. Torben Bjørn Christensen. Mr. Christensen has served as a director of the Company since June 6, 2017. Mr.
Christensen is the Owner and CEO of 9 retail stores within Bike Sport and Boats (Boat Equipment), has 50 % ownership of J J
Shipyard in Copenhagen, not less than 50% ownership of POMa Invest and is the sole Owner of TBC Holding A/S. Mr.
Christensen has either owned or worked at Gertsen & Olufsen, Scandinavisk Dentalservice, Industri Filter, Schur International,
Flexibel Emballage Plast and A.P. Møller – Singapore. Mr. Christensen holds degrees in chemical engineering and economics.
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Compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act
Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires executive officers, directors and persons who own more
than 10% of a registered class of our equity securities to file reports of ownership with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Executive officers, directors and more than 10% shareholders are required by regulations to furnish us with copies of all Section
16(a) reports they file.
Based solely on our review of the copies of such forms received by us, we believe that during the fiscal year ended June
30, 2017 all filing requirements were timely satisfied except that the following executive officers and directors and 10% holders:
Name/Relationship

Form(s)

Description

Renè Sindlev/Director and 10% holder

Form 3; Form
4

Late filing after March 14, 2016 acquisition of over
10% of Common Stock, late filing after acquisition of
2,700,000 shares of Common Stock and warrants to
purchase 5,400,000 shares of Common Stock on April
21, 2017 and late filing after appointment as Director on
June 6, 2017. Form 3 was Subsequently filed on July
17, 2017.

Torben Bjørn Christensen/former Director

Form 3

Late filing after appointment as Director on June 6,
2017. Subsequently filed on July 17, 2017.

Karsten Ree

Form 3

Late filing after July 12, 2017 acquisition of over 10%
of Common Stock.

Eric Leire/Chief Executive Officer

Form 3

Late filing after appointment as Chief Executive Officer
on June 9, 2017. Subsequently filed on September 22,
2017.

Robert Wolfe/Chief Financial Officer

Form 3

Late filing after appointment as Chief Executive Officer
on July 11, 2017. Subsequently filed on September 22,
2017.

Code of Ethics
On July 12, 2012, the Company adopted a formal code of ethics statement for senior officers and directors (the “Code of
Ethics”) that is designed to deter wrongdoing and to promote ethical conduct and full, fair, accurate, timely and understandable
reports that the Company files or submits to the SEC and others. A form of the Code of Ethics is attached as an exhibit to this
report. Requests for copies of the Code of Ethics should be sent in writing to DanDrit Biotech USA, Inc., Stumpedyssevej 17, 2970
Hørsholm, Denmark, Attention: Eric Leire, Chief Executive Officer.
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Corporate Governance
Our Board has not adopted procedures by which security holders may recommend nominees to our Board and that has not
changed.
Insider Participation Concerning Executive Compensation
The Registrant is a smaller reporting company and is not required to provide this information.
Director Independence
Our Board has determined that Mr. Torben Bjørn Christensen and Mr. Renè Sindlev are each independent as that term is
defined in the listing standards of the NASDAQ. In making these determinations, our Board has concluded that neither Mr.
Christensen nor Mr. Sindlev has an employment, business, family or other relationship which, in the opinion of our Board, would
interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director.
Item 11. Executive Compensation
The following table sets forth certain information with respect to compensation for year ended June 30, 2017 and the
ended June 30, 2016 earned by or paid to our named executive officers.

Year
2017
2016(3)

Salary
($)
270,021
360,029

Robert Wolfe, Chief Financial Officer

2017
2016(3)




Lone Degn, former Chief Financial Officer

2017
2016(3)

95,665


Aldo Petersen, former Chief Executive Officer

2017(4)
2016(3)

520,000


Soren Degn, former Chief Financial Officer

2017
2016




N. E. Nielsen, former Director

2017(5)
2016




Name and Principal Position
Dr. Eric Leire, Chief Executive Officer

Stock
Awards
($)
208,829(2)


Option
Awards
($)



Total
($)(1)
478,850
360,029
















95,665





728,829











208,829


208,829(2)



208,829(2)


(1) All values, except for Stock Awards, are reported on an asconverted basis from Danish Krone (DKK) to U.S. dollars ($) based
on the average currency exchange rate of $1.00 = DKK 6.5154, for the year ended June 30, 2017. We do not make any
representation that the Danish Krone amounts could have been, or could be, converted into U.S. dollars at such rate on June 30,
2016, or at any other rate.
(2) Represents the fair value of 300,000 options with a strike price of $2.00 per share granted on September 15, 2016.
(3) Represents the year ended June 30, 2016.
(4) Represents Mr. Petersen’s Salary of $240,000 and Consulting Fees to Mr. Petersen’s company APE Invest A/S.
(5) N. E. Nielsen is a partner and part owner of Lett Law Firm and DLA Piper Law firm which received compensation for services
to the Company. For the years ending June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016, the Company paid the firms $268,620 and $105,107
respectively.
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Employment Arrangements
Agreements with Named Executive Officers
During the years ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016, we executed employments agreement with Dr. Leire and Ms.
Degn.
Leire Employment Agreement
Effective June 1, 2017, the Company reinstated an Employment Agreement originally dated February 5, 2012 with Dr.
Eric Leire to serve as Dandrit Denmark’s Managing Director, a copy of which is referenced herewith as Exhibit 10.4. Pursuant to
the terms and conditions of the Employment Agreement, Dr. Leire will be employed by DanDrit Denmark for an indefinite term
unless the agreement is earlier terminated as described below. The Employment Agreement provides that the Dr. Leire will receive
a salary of $313,775 per year, paid in equal monthly payments in arrears.
In addition to his salary, Dr. Leire will be entitled to receive: (i) a company car at a value up of $762 per month (monthly
lease value) and DanDrit Denmark shall defray all expenses in connection with the maintenance and use of the car; (ii) coverage of
all expenses relating to Dr. Leire’s mobile phone, home computer, Internet connection as well as his home phone; (iii) coverage of
all the expenses relating to Dr. Leire’s subscription to a fitness club; (iv) a bonus of up to $500,000 per year if Dr. Leire reaches
certain conditions as specified in the Employment Agreement; and (v) coverage under the Company’s health care program.
The Company may terminate Dr. Leire’s employment with 6 months prior notice to the end of a month. If DanDrit
Denmark terminates Dr. Leire’s employment, he shall be entitled to be released from his duty to work (in Danish “fritstillet”)
during the notice period. Dr. Leire may terminate the employment at 3 months’ notice to the end of a month. In case of material
breach, the nondefaulting party can terminate the Employment Agreement without notice and can claim damages in accordance
with the general Danish law of damages. If Dr. Leire suspends payments, or insolvency proceedings are commenced against his
estate, DanDrit Denmark can terminate the employment without notice. The employment shall cease without notice to the end of
the month in which Dr. Leire attains the age of 70. The Employment Agreement contains noncompetition and nonsolicitation
clauses.
L. Degn Employment Agreement
Effective March 12, 2015, DanDrit Denmark entered into an Employment Agreement with Ms. Degn to serve as its Chief
Financial Officer. Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Employment Agreement, Ms. Degn will be employed by DanDrit
Denmark for an indefinite term unless the agreement is earlier terminated as described below. The Employment Agreement
provides that Ms. Degn will receive a salary of DKK 60,000 gross per month, to be paid monthly on the last business day of each
month and subject to annual review and increases by the board of directors of DanDrit Denmark, as it deems appropriate.
In addition to her salary, Ms. Degn will be entitled to receive reimbursement of all reasonable costs and expenses incurred
in connection with the performance of her duties in accordance with the terms of the Degn Employment Agreement In addition,
DanDrit Denmark has agreed to contribute an amount equal to ten percent (10%) of Ms. Degn’s yearly salary to a pension fund or
bank account established for such purpose.
On March 10, 2016, the Company accepted the amicable resignation of Lone Degn from the Company as its Chief
Financial Officer, effective March 10, 2016.
R. Wolfe CFO Service Agreement
Effective July 11, 2017, the Company reappointed Robert Wolfe as the Chief Financial Officer, and DanDrit Denmark
entered into a CFO Service Agreement with Crossfield, Inc. a company owned by Mr. Wolfe, a copy of which is filed herewith as
Exhibit 10.8. The agreement provides that the Company will pay a signing fee of $7,500 and $90,000 per year for a total of
$97,500 subject to annual review and increases by the board of directors of DanDrit Denmark, as it deems appropriate. In addition,
the CFO will be entitled to receive reimbursement of all reasonable costs and expenses incurred in connection with the performance
of duties.
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Outstanding Equity Awards as of June 30, 2017
As of June 30, 2017, there were 300,000 options outstanding awarded to Eric Leire. The options have a strike price of
$2.00 per share. The options vested upon grant, contain certain antidilution provisions that provide for antidilution in the sole
discretion of the board and expire December 31, 2019.
Board Compensation
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 the two directors N.E. Nielsen and APE Invest A/S for Aldo Petersen were each
compensated with 300,000 options at a strike price of $2.00 per share. The options vested upon grant, contain certain antidilution
provisions that provide for antidilution in the sole discretion of the board and expire December 31, 2019. The compensation
options value was $208,829 each. For the year ended June 30, 2016, we did not compensate our directors, or issue any equity
awards to our directors, for their services other than to reimburse them for outofpocket expenses incurred in connection with their
attendance at meetings of the Board.
In order to attract and retain qualified independent directors, we may in the future adopt a compensation plan for non
employee directors that includes cash as well as equitybased compensation.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
The following table sets forth, as of September 28, 2017, certain information regarding the beneficial ownership of the
shares of Common Stock of DanDrit USA, of (i) our named executive officers, (ii) our directors and (iii) each person known to us
who is known to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of the shares of Common Stock in DanDrit USA. In accordance with the
rules of the SEC, “beneficial ownership” includes voting or investment power with respect to securities. To our knowledge, except
as indicated in the footnotes to this table and pursuant to applicable community property laws, the persons named in the table have
sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares of Common Stock beneficially owned by them. Unless indicated
otherwise, the address for the beneficial holders is c/o DanDrit Biotech USA, Inc. Stumpedyssevej 17, 2970 Hørsholm, Denmark.
Beneficial ownership of the Common Stock is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC and includes any shares
of Common Stock over which a person exercises sole or shared voting or investment power, or of which a person has a right to
acquire ownership at any time within 60 days. Except as otherwise indicated, we believe that the persons named in this table have
sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares of Common Stock held by them. Applicable percentage ownership in
the following table is based on 13,727,538 shares of Common Stock outstanding as of September 28, 2017 plus, any securities that
the individuals included in this table have the right to acquire within 60 days of September 28, 2017.

Name of Beneficial Owner
Directors/Officers:
Eric Jean Marie Leire, Chief Executive Officer (1)
Robert Wolfe, Chief Financial Officer
Renè Sindlev, Director (2)
Torben Bjørn Christensen, Director (3)
Aldo Petersen, former Chief Executive Officer and former Director (5)
Soren Degn, former Chief Financial Officer
Lone Degn, former Chief Financial Officer
N. E Nielsen, former Chairman of the Board (6)
Directors/Officers Total (7 persons):

Dandrit Biotech USA Inc.
Number of
%
Shares
Ownership

371,302

9,170,869
630,936
300,000


300,000
10,809,776

1.63%

40.23%
2.77%
1.32%


1.32%
47.42%

9,170,869
3,700,000

40.23%
16.23%

12,870,869

56.46%
63.49%

5% Shareholders:
RS Group ApS (2)
Karsten Ree (4)
5% Shareholders Total:
Total:
* Indicates less than 1%.

14,473,107

(1)

Includes 300,000 options to purchase 300,000 shares of Common Stock and 71,302 shares of Common Stock.
22

(2)
(3)

(4)

(5)
(6)

Includes 3,270,869 shares of Common Stock and 5,400,000 immediately exercisable warrants to purchase shares of Common
Stock owned of record by RS Group ApS, a Danish entity. The sole voting and disposition power of the shares owned by RS
Group ApS is held by Renè Sindlev, our Director. Mr. Sindlev’s address is Stumpedyssevej 17, 2970 Horsholm, Denmark.
Includes (i) 484,250 shares of Common Stock owned of record by PoMa Invest Aps, a Danish entity, (ii) a promissory note
immediately convertible into 45,113 shares of Common Stock owned of record by Torben Bjørn Christensen and (iii)
promissory notes immediately convertible into 101,573 shares of Common Stock owned of record by TBC Invest A/S, a
Danish entity. The sole voting and disposition power of the shares owned by PoMa Aps and TBC Invest A/S is held by
Torben Bjørn Christensen. Mr. Christensen’s address is Oeveroedvej 36B, 2840 Holte, Denmark.
Includes 1,000,000 shares of Common Stock and 2,000,000 immediately exercisable warrants to purchase shares of Common
Stock owned by Karsten Ree personally and 700,000 shares of Common Stock held by Karsten Ree Holding I ApS, a Danish
entity. The sole voting and disposition of the shares owned by Karsten Ree Holding I ApS is held by Karsten Ree. Mr. Ree’s
address is Generatorvej 8 B, 2860 Soeborg, Denmark.
Includes 300,000 options to purchase 300,000 shares of Common Stock beneficially held by APE Invest A/S, an entity which
Mr. Petersen controls.
Includes 300,000 options to purchase shares of Common Stock beneficially held by N.E. Nielsen.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence
Described below are transactions or series of transactions that occurred from July 1, 2016 through the date of this Annual
Report (the “Reporting Period”) between us and our executive officers, directors or the beneficial owners of 5% or more of our
Common Stock, and certain persons affiliated with or related to these persons, including family members, in which they had or will
have a direct or indirect material interest in an amount that exceeds the lesser of $120,000 or 1% of the average of our total assets
as of yearend for the last two completed fiscal years, other than compensation arrangements that are otherwise required to be
described under “Executive Compensation.”
During the year ended June 30, 2017 and the year ended June 30, 2016, a law firm partially owned by the Registrant’s
then Chairman of the Board provided legal services to the Company and recorded legal expense of $268,620 and $105,107,
respectively.
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On August 24, 2016, the Company entered into a noninterest bearing convertible note for $90,225 with a shareholder of
the Company (the “August 24 Note”). The August 24 Note was later acquired by a then board member and shareholder of the
Company. The August 24 Note had a maturity date of December 31, 2017 and was originally convertible into shares of Common
Stock at $2.00 per share and the holder of the note has provided the Company with a notice of conversion to convert such note (see
Note 13 to the Financial Statements).
On September 21, 2016 the Company entered into a noninterest bearing convertible note for $150,375 with a shareholder
of the Company (the “September 21 Note”). The September 21 Note was later acquired by an entity controlled by a then board
member and shareholder of the Company. The September 21 Note had a maturity date of December 31, 2017 and was originally
convertible into shares of Common Stock at $2.00 per share, and the holder of the note has provided the Company with a notice of
conversion to convert such note (see Note 13 to the Financial Statements).
On March 9, 2017, the Company entered into a noninterest bearing convertible note for $52,770 with an entity controlled
by shareholder and former board member of the Company (the “March 9 Note”). The note was originally convertible into shares of
Common Stock at $2.00 per share (See Note 13 to the Financial Statements).
On April 21, 2017, RS Arving ApS, an entity controlled by Mr. Sindlev purchased 500,000 shares of Common Stock and
1,000,000 warrants to purchase shares of Common Stock for $650,000, and RS Group ApS, an entity controlled by Mr. Sindlev,
purchased 2,200,000 shares of Common Stock and 4,400,000 warrants to purchase shares of Common Stock for $2,860,000 in the
Registrant’s private placement offering more fully described in the its Current Report on Form 8K, filed on May 1, 2017. RS
Arving ApS subsequently assigned all of its shares and warrants to RS Group ApS, and RS Arving ApS no longer owns any shares
or warrants.
Except as otherwise indicated herein, there have been no other related party transactions, or any other transactions or relationships
required to be disclosed pursuant to Item 404 and Item 407(a) of Regulation SK.
Approval of Related Party Transactions
The Company has not adopted written policies and procedures for the review and approval of any transaction required to
be reported under Item 404(a) of Regulation SK. In approving these transactions, the Company follows the guidance of Section
144 of the Delaware General Corporation Law.
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services
The following information sets forth fees billed to us by Gregory & Associates, LLC during the years ended June 30, 2017
and June 30, 2016 for: (i) services rendered for the audit of our annual financial statements and the review of our quarterly financial
statements, (ii) services that were reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of our financial statements and that
are not reported as audit fees, (iii) services rendered in connection with tax compliance, tax advice and tax planning, and (iv) all
other fees for services rendered.
Audit Fees
The aggregate fees billed by Gregory & Associates LLC for such professional services were $56,474 for the year ended
June 30, 2017 and for the year ended June 30, 2016 were $55,800.
AuditRelated Fees
There were no fees billed Gregory & Associates LLC for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the
performance of the audit or review of the Company’s financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2017 and for the year ended
June 30, 2016.
Tax Fees
There were no fees billed by Gregory & Associates LLC for tax services for the years ended June 30, 2017 and June 30,
2016.
All Other Fees
The aggregate fees billed by Gregory & Associates for such professional services, including reading, consents and pro
formas associated with the Company’s contemplated transaction with OncoSynergy were $30,000 for the year ended June 30, 2017
and $0 for the year ended June 30, 2016.

Audit Committee’s PreApproval Process
The Board, which acts as the audit committee, approves all audit services.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
Exhibit
No.
2.1

Description
Share Exchange Agreement dated February 12, 2014 (1)

2.2

Share Cancellation Agreement dated February 12, 2014 (1)

3.1

Certificate of Incorporation (2)

3.2

Bylaws (2)

3.3

Articles of Association of DanDrit Denmark, as amended, dated February 26, 2004 (1)

3.4

Agreement and Plan of Share Exchange, dated February 12, 2014 (1)

4.1

Form of Common Stock Certificate (3)

10.1

Intellectual Property Assignment by and between DanDrit Denmark and Alexei Kirkin dated June 5, 2002 (1)

10.2

Collaboration Agreement by and between DanDrit Denmark and National Cancer Centre of Singapore Pte Ltd. dated
November 11, 2008 (1)

10.3

Master Services Agreement by and between DanDrit Denmark and Aptiv Solutions (UK) Ltd dated October 11, 2011
(1)

10.4

Employment Agreement by and between DanDrit Denmark and Dr. Eric Leire dated February 5, 2012, reinstated as of
June 1, 2017 (1)+

10.5

Lease Agreement by and between Symbion A/S and DanDrit Denmark dated July 8, 2013 (1)

10.6

Consulting Agreement by and between DanDrit Denmark and Paseco ApS dated February 11, 2014 (1)

10.7

DanDrit Biotech USA, Inc. 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (1)

10.8

CFO Service Agreement by and between DanDrit Denmark and Mr. Robert Wolfe effective July 11, 2017 (4)

10.9

Promissory Note dated July 14, 2017 (5)
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Exhibit
No.
10.10

Description
Form of Subscription Agreement (6)

10.11

Form of Warrant (6)

14.1

Code of Ethics (7)
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Subsidiary (4)

31.1*

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a14(a) or Rule 15d14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934

31.2*

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a14(a) or Rule 15d14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934

32.1**

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a14(b) or Rule 15d14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

32.2**

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a14(b) or Rule 15d14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

101.INS

XBRL Instance Document*

101.SCH

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema*

101.CAL

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase*

101.DEF

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase*

101.LAB

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase*

101.PRE

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase*

+
*
**
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)

Agreement with management.
Filed herewith.
Furnished herewith.
Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s registration statement on Form S1 filed with the SEC on February 14, 2014.
Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 10 filed with the SEC on August 12, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference.
Filed as an exhibit to the Company's Current Report on Form 8K, as filed with the SEC on May 16, 2014, and incorporated
herein by this reference.
Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10K filed with the SEC on September 29, 2017 and
incorporated herein by reference.
Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8K filed with the SEC on July 20, 2017 and incorporated herein by reference.
Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8K filed with the SEC on May 1, 2017 and incorporated herein by reference.
Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10K filed with the SEC on July 17, 2012 and incorporated
herein by reference.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
Date: November 20, 2017

DANDRIT BIOTECH USA, INC.
By: /s/ Eric Leire
Eric Leire
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
By: /s/ Robert Wolfe
Robert Wolfe
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signature

Title

Date

/s/ Dr. Eric Leire
Dr. Eric Leire

Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

November 20, 2017

/s/ Robert Wolfe
Robert Wolfe

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

November 20, 2017

/s/ René Sindlev
René Sindlev

Director

November 20, 2017

/s/ Henrik GrønfeldtSørensen
Henrik GrønfeldtSørensen

Director

November 20, 2017
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